
Summons to Meeting

Monday 4 December 2017

Development Panel
Tuesday 12 December 2017, 1.00 pm

Theatre - The Wave Centre, Maryport
Membership:

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor Janet Farebrother
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Mark Jenkinson
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Jim Osborn
Councillor Bill Pegram Councillor David Wilson

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Kathryn Magnay on 01900 702635.

Agenda
1. Minutes of meeting Tuesday 14 November 2017 of Development Panel  

(Pages 3 - 14)

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the 
meeting.

Page 1



5. 2/2017/0277 Princess Hall, Low Seaton-Hybrid planning application 
comprising - Phase 1: Full planning permission for the partial demolition of 
the Royal British Legion building and relocation of the car park, including 
implementation of access associated with the car park and residential 
development and Phase 2: Outline permission for residential development 
of up to 100 dwellings and associated works considering details of access  
(Pages 15 - 38)
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1
58411

6. 2/2017/0278 North of Camerton Road, Seaton- Proposed outline application 
for the erection of 5 dwellings considering reserved matter of access only  
(Pages 39 - 54)
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1
58412

7. 2/2017/0279 Hillside, Camerton Road, Seaton- Outline application for the 
erection of 4 dwellings considering reserved matter of access only  (Pages 
55 - 70)
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1
58413

8. 2/2017/0391 Land adjacent to Applethwaite, Station Hill, Wigton- 
Development of a single storey place of worship with car parking and new 
site access  (Pages 71 - 84)
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=1
61975

Chief Executive

Date of Next Meeting:

Tuesday 9 January 2018, 1.00 pm
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Page 2

http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=158411
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=158411
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=158412
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=158412
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=158413
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=158413
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=161975
http://planning.allerdale.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=161975


At a meeting of the Development Panel held in The Wave Centre - The Wave Centre, 
Maryport on Tuesday 14 November 2017 at 1.00 pm

Members

Councillor Peter Bales (Chair) Councillor Billy Miskelly (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Nicky Cockburn
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Alan Hedworth Councillor Frank Johnston
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Bill Pegram
Councillor Philip Tibble Councillor David Wilson

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carole Armstrong, Councillor 
Mark Jenkinson and Councillor Jim Osborn

Staff Present

B Carlin, S Long, K Magnay, A Seekings and R Wilson

227. Minutes of meeting Tuesday 17 October 2017 of Development Panel 

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 October 2017 were agreed as a correct 
record.

228. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

229. Questions 

None received.

A Seekings, Corporate Director entered the meeting  

230. 2/2017/0411 - Harris Brow, Great Broughton - Outline application for new 
dwelling 

Representations

Sallie Morris and John Morris spoke in objection to the application.

Application

The Planning Officer recommended refusal.

The Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main issues within 
the report as follows:

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 Principal

Notwithstanding the fact that the site lies outside of the saved settlement 
limit for Broughton, the site lies directly adjacent to the saved settlement 
limit. The scale of development proposed is not considered to be 
disproportionate to the size of the settlement nor its role as a Local 
Service Centre.

The council can demonstrate a 5-year supply of housing and therefore 
the policies for supply of housing contained within the adopted Local 
Plan are to be considered up-to-date.

Officers consider the site as unsuitable for development for a dwelling, 
due to the unsafe proposed vehicular access arrangements and the 
adverse visual and landscape impact of the housing development on this 
elevated site at the entrance to the village.

There are local concerns regarding the adverse impact of developing this 
green field site for residential development. Concerns relate to adverse 
impacts on visual amenity, the adverse impact on the character of the 
locality at this ‘gateway site’, the loss of agricultural land and existing 
rights of way into the nearby fields and the Derwent Valley.

 Access

The access arrangements are not considered to be safe by Cumbria 
Highways due to the restricted visibility within the locality and proximity to 
nearby junctions.

 Sitting, Design, Materials

This is an outline planning application however the vehicular access 
arrangements are to be considered at this stage. Matters relating to 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are planning matters to be 
dealt with subsequently as reserved matters.

 Hedgerows

A significant length of hedgerow would be required to be removed to 
secure the visibility splays. Part of the visibility splay would require 
hedgerow removal not in the applicant’s land ownership.

 Landscape and Visual impact

Officers consider the development of this undeveloped and elevated site 
for a housing development would have an adverse impact on the 
landscape and visual character of this gateway site to the village.

 Drainage

A public sewer crosses the site and United Utilities will not allow 
development within 3m either side of the centre line of the sewer. The 

Page 4



proposal indicates that foul sewage will be disposed of mains and 
surface water will be disposed of to an existing water course.

Members were informed by the Principal Planning Officer that further to the 
preparation of the report the applicant had lodged an appeal on the grounds of 
non-determination. Although this meant that the Planning Inspectorate would 
now be the determining authority on the merits of the application, the 
Inspectorate as part of the appeal process would seek the views of the Council 
as to what they would have been minded to decide if they had still been the 
determining authority on the application. Members should therefore continue to 
assess the merits of the application including officer’s recommendation to 
ascertain the grounds of their own appeal consultation response to be 
forwarded for consideration by the Inspectorate.
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Councillor M Grainger moved refusal as per officer’s recommendations. 
 
Councillor D Wilson seconded.

A vote was taken; 12 voted in favour of refusal, 0 against.

The motion in favour of refusal was carried.

Decision

Refused.

231. 2/2017/0433 - Land adjacent to The Crofts, Pardshaw - Demolition of 
existing redundant barns and erection of 5 new dwellings around 
courtyard parking area, associated domestic gardens and covered carport 

Representations

Phil Hodgson, Michael Ward and Wendy Rotarides spoke in objection to the 
application.

Application

The Planning Officer recommended approval.

The Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main issues within 
the report as follows:

 Principal

The village of Pardshaw is defined as an Infill/ Rounding Off village, 
under Policy S3 Spatial Strategy and Growth, Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1) adopted July 2014 (ALP). This means very small scale development 
may be appropriate to respond to local needs and to contribute to the 
vitality of local communities.

Page 5



 Site History

The scheme is for 5 new build dwelling units following the demolition of 
an existing barn that has a historic extant permission for a conversion 
scheme for 6 dwellings and a single new build dwelling planning approval 
2/1989/0798.

 Sitting, Material and Design

The current application is a contemporary residential scheme of 2 storey 
dwellings set around a central courtyard with a detached car port building 
that will also provide for bat mitigation following the demolition of the 
stone agricultural barns.

External materials of the new dwellings comprise of slate roofs, render, 
stone from the demolished barn and timber cladding. Boundary walls will 
be of natural stone and for the corner entrance plot a lower rendered wall 
and railings to the frontage and side. This provides a more sympathetic 
relationship with the street scene and surrounding properties.

 Access and Parking

No objections from Cumbria Highways with regard to access and
parking.

 Ecology

Bat mitigation will be provided in the newly constructed car port
building.

 Drainage

Foul drainage to the mains and surface water to an existing
watercourse subject to planning conditions.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Councillor T Annison proposed a site visit.

Councillor D Wilson seconded.

The Monitoring Officer advised members that the motion on the floor for a site 
visit had been seconded and members can make any amendments to the 
motion that had been proposed. He advised that a potential impact on the 
application which could result from a resolution to defer the decision pending a 
site visit was that the applicant could submit an appeal on the basis of non-
determination. Members were advised that the eight week determination period 
expired 14 November 2017. Non-determination would have an impact on 
performance of Planning internally and an appeal on the ground of non-
determination would result in the responsibility for determining the application 
being passed to the Planning Inspectorate. An extension of the time could be 
granted, this would need to be agreed by the applicant.

Page 6



A vote was taken; 5 voted in favour of the site visit, 6 against, 1 abstention.

The motion in favour of the site visit was lost.

Councillor B Miskelly moved approval as per officer’s recommendations.  
 
Councillor J Farebrother seconded.

A vote was taken; 5 voted in favour of approval, 7 against.

The motion in favour of approval was lost.

Councillor D Wilson moved the site visit.

Councillor T Annison seconded.

A vote was taken; 6 voted in favour of the site visit, 6 against.

The Chair gave the casting vote making it 7 against.

The motion in favour of the site visit was lost.

Councillor J Farebrother moved approval as per officer’s recommendations.

Councillor B Miskelly seconded.

A vote was taken; 6 voted in favour of approval, 6 against

The Chair gave the casting vote making it 7 in favour.

The motion in favour of approval was carried.

Decision

Approved.

Conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans:
Sketch Elevation 1 Rev 8C 24/10/17
Sketch Elevations 1 Rev 9C 24/1/17
Sketch Views 2 Rev 12 B 24/10/17
Sketch Views 1 Rev 11 C 24/10/17
Sketch Views 3 Rev 13 A 24/10/17

Page 7



Sketch Views 5 from Road looking east Rev 15 B 24/1/17
Sketch Views 6 Entrance looking east 24/10/17
170602 04 Rev G Ground and First Floor 24/1/17
170602 05 Rev D Elevations 1 24/10/17
170602 07 Rev G Block Plan 24/10/17
Amendment Bat Survey 06.09.17
Foul and Surface Water Assessment

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in 
complete accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-
material alterations to the scheme are properly considered.

3. Only foul drainage shall be connected to the public sewer.

Reason: To ensure a sustainable means of drainage from the site and 
minimise the risk of water pollution to the local water environment, in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014

4. The surface water drainage works shall include the attenuation 
measures as set out in the Foul and Surface water assessment. The 
approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the 
occupation of any of the dwelling houses hereby approved.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and 
minimise the risk of flooding from the development in comparison to an 
assessment of its existing undeveloped state, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Policies S29 and S2 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

5. Bat mitigation shall be constructed in accordance with the details 
set out in the Amendment Bat Survey 06.09.17. The approved 
details shall be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the 
dwelling house(s) hereby approved.

Reason: To safeguard the habitat of bats during construction works in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 
of the Allerdale Local

6. Demolition works involving the dismantling of any structure and 
removal of existing roof materials shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the details set out in 8. Mitigation, Amendment Bat 
Survey 06.09.17.

Reason: To safeguard the habitat of bats during construction works in 
compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S35 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

7. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development that was not previously identified it 
must be reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. 
Development on the part of the site affected must be halted and a 

Page 8



risk assessment carried out and submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken 
in accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.

Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination 
from the development to the local environment in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

8. The development shall not be brought into use until visibility splays 
providing clear visibility of 29 metres x 2 metres measured down 
the centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the 
major road have been provided at the junction of the access road 
with the county highway as shown in drawing 170602 07 Rev G 
Block Plan 24/10/17. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 
(or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to 
permitted development, no structure, or object of any kind shall be 
erected or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants which 
exceed 1m in height shall be planted or be permitted to grow within 
the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.

 Reason: To ensure an acceptable standard of highway access during 
the construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

9. Prior to the commencement of any construction works above 
ground floor level, details of the private access road and courtyard, 
including construction, surface and drainage details shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The works shall be implemented solely in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the occupation of any of the 
dwelling houses hereby approved.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development and in the 
interests of highway safety.

10.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no external 
alterations or additions shall be made to any dwelling hereby 
approved and no buildings, extensions, gates, fences or walls 
(other than those expressly authorised by this permission) shall be 
carried out within the curtilage of any dwelling without the prior 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority upon an 
application submitted to it.

Page 9



Reason: To preserve the character and appearance of the original 
building and its surroundings.

11.No part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed 
above ground floor level until details and representative samples of 
all external and roofing materials have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be constructed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development for the 
external appearance of the approved scheme which is compatible with 
the character of the surrounding area, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy DM14 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

12.Details of the siting, height and type of all means of enclosure/ 
screen walls/ fences/ other means of enclosure shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
occupation of any dwelling(s). Any such walls/ fences etc shall be 
constructed prior to the approved building being brought into 
use/occupied. All means of enclosure so constructed shall be 
retained and no part thereof shall be removed without the prior 
consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of development which is 
compatible with the character of the surrounding area and safeguards 
the amenity of neighbouring properties.

13.No part of the development hereby permitted shall be built above 
ground floor level until there has been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft 
landscaping which shall include indications of all existing trees and 
shrubs on the site, and details of any to be retained, together with 
measures for the protection in the course of development. All 
planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme shall be 
carried out in the first planting season following completion of the 
development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 
years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with other similar size and species, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and 
minimise the impact of the development in the locality.

14.Prior to the carrying out of any construction works the existing 
buildings affected by the proposed development shall be recorded 
in accordance with a Level 2 survey as described in English 
Heritage's document 'Understanding Historic Buildings A Guide to 
Good Recording Practice, 2016'. Within two months of the 
commencement of construction works three copies of the resultant 

Page 10



Level 2 survey report shall be furnished to the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To ensure that a permanent record is made of the existing 
buildings of architectural and historic interest prior to their alteration as 
part of the proposed development.

15.No development shall take place until a Construction and 
Demolition Method Statement has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall 
include the following:
(a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic, off-site parking, 
turning and compound areas;
b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of 
damage from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from 
vehicles, deliveries. All measurements should make reference to 
BS7445.
(c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential 
properties from construction compounds including visual impact, 
noise, and light pollution.
(d) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the 
construction or demolition;
(e) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during 
construction and demolition (including any wheel washing 
facilities);
(f) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase;
(g) Hours of working and deliveries;
(h) Details of lighting to be used on site.
(i) Highway signage / Haulage routes
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
duration of the development.

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties during the construction works of the 
development hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), 
Adopted July 2014 and in the interests of highway safety.

16.Prior to occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, details of bin 
storage facilities shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to 
the occupation of the dwellings and maintained thereafter to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

17.Notwithstanding the submitted plans, prior to occupation of any 
dwelling, details shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
of the siting and design of external flues for approval. The approved 

Page 11



scheme shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
plans. 

Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and 
minimise the impact of the development in the locality.

18.Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved details of a 
management programme for the maintenance of the access road 
and courtyard shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The road and courtyard upon implementation 
shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved 
maintenance scheme. 

Reason: To ensure the long term maintenance and management of the 
approved highway details.

R Wilson, Planning Officer left the meeting  

232. 2/2017/0332 - Former Laundrette, Windmill Lane, Cockermouth - To 
remove door and replace with window (retrospective) 

Application

The Principal Planning Officer recommended approval.

The Principal Planning Officer outlined the application and detailed the main 
issues within the report as follows:

 Design and Materials

The design, materials and alterations to the building are considered to be 
acceptable

 Streetscene and appearance

Minor external alterations with no adverse impact.

 Highways

No adverse impact on the highway.

Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.

Councillor R Munby moved approval as per officers recommendations.

Councillor T Annison seconded.

A vote was taken; 11 voted in favour of approval, 0 against, 1 abstention 

The motion in favour of approval was carried.

Page 12



Decision

Approved.

Conditions

1. T2
Block Plan.pdf 
Existing and Proposed.pdf
Existing Elevation With Door.pdf
Location Plan.pdf
New Window.pdf
Plan.pdf
Proposed Elevations.pdf
Window Sizes.pdf

2. Within 2 months of the date of this consent the external render 
finish to the blocked up doorway shall be painted to match the 
colour of the existing frontage

Reason. in the interests of the visual amenity of the site

The meeting closed at 2.40 pm

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2017/0277

Proposed 
Development:

Hybrid planning application comprising - Phase 1: Full planning 
permission for the partial demolition of the Royal British Legion 
building and relocation of the car park, including implementation of 
access associated with the car park and residential development 
and Phase 2: Outline permission for residential development of up 
to 100 dwellings and associated works considering details of 
access.

Location: Princess Hall
Low Seaton
Seaton
Workington

Applicant: Mrs A Copsey
Trustees Of The Copsey Family Trust

Recommendation: Approve

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
Development

On balance, despite the fact that the site lies outside of the 
settlement limit for Workington/Seaton, Officers consider the 
principle of residential development at this location to be 
acceptable. The site lies directly adjacent to the saved settlement 
limit and therefore, can be considered both well related and 
sustainable. The scale of development proposed, (100 dwellings), 
is not considered to be disproportionate to the size of the village 
nor its role as part of the Principal Centre of Workington as a 
whole and the aim to achieve and maintain housing growth.

The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with 
Policies S2, S3 and S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

Access/Highway 
Issues

The Highway Authority has concluded that the additional traffic 
generated by the development will have minimal impact on the 
locality and that the site access, visibility splays, emergency 
access  and parking provision within the site can be conditioned 
accordingly to safeguard highway safety. Further Traffic 
Regulation Orders on Causeway Road and/or Church Road are 
not considered necessary to control any additional road congestion 
therefore further parking restrictions and/or one-way traffic control 
is not required.

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



Drainage Considering the details provided and the response from the Local 
Lead Flood Authority. As an outline application the principle of 
surface water drainage is considered acceptable with regard to the 
sequential, sustainable approach. The drainage strategy has 
highlighted the potential options for attenuation of surface water 
discharge to reduce the existing greenfield rate and safeguard the 
threat of local flooding and that of downstream. With the support 
from the County Council the drainage strategy is considered 
acceptable at this stage subject to conditions for further details.

Conditions As a hybrid application for two phases of development, the 
planning conditions have been worded accordingly. The conditions 
to safeguard the primary concerns of access and drainage will 
apply to any part of the development

Affordable Housing The one hundred houses proposed require a 25% provision of 
affordable housing to meet the requirements of Policy S8. Allerdale 
Housing Services has recommended a range of house types in 
most need and with tenure of 75% affordable rent and 25% low 
cost sale to meet policy guidelines. This can be accommodated 
within an appropriate obligation within the Section 106 Agreement.

Section 106 Legal 
Agreement

A legal agreement is required to secure affordable housing 
delivery, management and maintenance of public open space and 
financial contributions to education and a monitoring travel plan.

Proposal

Hybrid application comprising outline application for the erection of up to 100 dwellings 
considering access only. An illustrative layout has been provided. The application also 
comprises full details for the part demolition of the Royal British Legion club building to 
achieve the access and provide parking for the club. This hybrid application has two 
distinct phases with residential development only achievable following part demolition of 
the club and creation of the access.

The submitted ‘masterplan’ as a whole also refers to two small sites on Camerton Road 
for 5 dwellings and 4 dwellings respectively. These are considered as standalone outline 
applications under references 2/2017/0278 and 2/2017/0279.

Site

The site comprises agricultural land on the edge of the settlement adjacent to and 
accessed from Camerton Road.
 
The proposed development site is bounded by residential properties to the south, west 
and east with a public right of way on the eastern boundary of the site that leads to the 

Page 16



cycle-path (disused railway line) forming the northern boundary of the site.

The proposed site as a whole is within close proximity to the centre of Seaton with 
available services and facilities.

Relevant Policies

NPPF

Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Promoting sustainable transport
Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes
Requiring good design
Promoting healthy communities

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 Adopted 2014

Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8 - Affordable Housing  

Site History.

Pre application advice has been given by Officers (ref PPA/2015/0249) that supported 
the principle of development subject to consultation. An Environmental Impact 
Assessment was judged not to be required regarding local environmental impacts (ref 
SCR/2017/0001).

The applicant engaged separately with the Highway Authority regarding the access to the 
site and scope of the traffic impact assessment required.

Representations.

Parish Council – The Parish Council has responded on three separate occasions during 
the application process and are quoted in full as follows…

Page 17



Objections to the proposals based on the potential impact of the additional properties on 
the area. Access arrangements are considered to be unsuitable, currently overused 
highways inadequate to support the likely additional traffic, serious safety concerns for 
pedestrians & vehicle users. The facilities are considered inadequate for a village with a 
population greater than Keswick & the infrastructure inadequate, with concerns for the 
potential impact of flooding in the drainage zone for the site. Consideration should be 
taken of other properties already coming onto the market in Seaton & the cumulative 
impact of proposed developments on the area services & infrastructure, which appear to 
be related to Seaton’s inclusion within the Workington Local Plan Area.

The Council is concerned at the proposed ‘emergency access’ route onto Camerton 
Road. Access onto Camerton Road is identified on the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2 as 
being a major concern, which the Parish Council shares.
How would such ‘emergency access’ be controlled? If it is proposed that access would 
be via a locked gate, this would appear a highly unusual arrangement, & one which the 
Council would contend could not be effectively managed. It is the Council’s view that 
such an access would soon become a regular means of access for vehicles on the 
estate. The Council would further ask where ownership of the verge over which the 
proposed access would pass resides. It notes that there was no reference of ‘notice to 
owners’ on the application Certificate B.
The Parish Council shares CCC’s concerns at the lack of suitable traffic modelling. It 
would like to see a demonstration of the potential impact on the village’s roads of the 
additional vehicles likely to result from the development, together with an onward 
projection to the impact on Calva roundabout. Church Road & Causeway Road currently 
suffer from bottlenecked traffic, which leads to tail backs on the main road & the 
increased potential for accidents, & which CCC has been unable to identify suitable 
solutions to despite reviewing the current problems. It is contended that increased traffic 
flow in the area resulting from the proposed development would lead to major problems 
which the highways infrastructure is unable to be modified to address.

Concerns at the proposed emergency access, where any access to Camerton Road, with 
no lighting & pavements, is considered unsuitable, & where the width is considered 
inadequate for access by emergency vehicles. The proposed management of the 
emergency access control is a further concern, given the road layout in the vicinity. It is 
considered that the peak usage times around the entrance to the proposed site is not as 
modelled, rather it is lunch times, evenings, & given the proximity of two churches a 
village hall & a function room, aligned to usage of those facilities. The impact on 
surrounding routes is considered a major traffic management issue, particularly given the 
extent of on road parking by residents, more so at times of high usage, in a village which 
is already viewed as being overdeveloped, with further large developments recently 
approved.

Highway Authority – No objections subject to conditions as reported fully below

Local Lead Flood Authority - No objections subject to conditions as reported fully below

Allerdale Housing Services – No objection with advice regarding the type and tenure of 
affordable housing.

Page 18



Environment Agency – No objection recognising the site to be not in a Flood Zone and 
the matter of drainage referred to the Local Lead flood Authority at County Council 
Standing advice that an Environmental permit is required to discharge surface water into 
the watercourse.

Coal Authority – No objections as Low Risk Area regarding former mine workings.

Fire Officer – No objections

Crime Prevention Officer – No objections in principle with standing advice. Further 
comment will be offered at the reserved matters stage.

Natural England – No objections in principle with standing advice and with the need for 
a condition to provide a Construction Environmental Management Plan

Environmental Protection – No objection with standard conditions regarding 
contaminated land further to the findings of the Desk Top Study. A noise condition is also 
recommended regarding noise emissions from the social club and the existing electricity 
sub-station.

Electricity Northwest – No objections with standing advice to protect and safeguard 
their assets across the site. This is not considered a significant constraint to 
development.

United Utilities – No objection regarding foul water and surface water discharge from 
the site with standard conditions for further details.

Access Officer – No objection regarding access for disabled persons.

The application has been advertised on site and in the local press.  Adjoining landowners 
where known have been notified. 193 letters of objection have been received as reported 
fully below.

Assessment

Principle of Development

Policy S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) states that new residential development will 
be concentrated within the physical limits of Principal, Key and Local Service Centres. As 
a settlement, Seaton is included as part of Workington for the purpose of settlement 
hierarchy and housing allocation and growth. 

The proposed development site lies outside of, but directly adjacent to the defined 
settlement limit for Workington (including Seaton). Notwithstanding the recent adoption of 
the Local Plan (Part 1) and the spatial strategy contained therein, the defined limits for 
individual settlements continue to be derived from the Allerdale Local Plan 1999. The 
LPA is currently in the process of reviewing settlement limits as part of the site allocations 
process but this development plan document, Allerdale Local Plan Part 2, is still some 

Page 19



way from adoption. 

Taking into account the age of the current defined settlement limits and also principles of 
sustainable development set out within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
officers consider that an element of flexibility must be applied when considering 
proposals for development that lie outside of them.

This is a principle that has been accepted by the Development Panel in considering 
proposals elsewhere in the Borough, most recently at the site adjacent to the Coachman 
Inn, Seaton approved by Members under ref 2/2017/0657.

The Council is currently able to demonstrate a five year land supply. At present the 
Council’s records show 5.3 years of land supply; close to the minimum. In that respect 
with Workington (including Seaton) as a Principal Centre and the focus for housing 
growth of 35% across the Plan area, additional, development sites can be supported to 
sustain housing growth. The Local Plan requires the delivery of at least 5,471 dwellings 
during the plan period and the proposed 100 dwellings are considered a valuable 
contribution to delivering that housing need. This can be seen in context with regard to 
Part 2 of the Local Plan and the preferred allocations below for Workington (including 
Seaton).

1979 dwellings required over the plan period for Workington (including Seaton)

Preferred Allocations

These sites are considered to be the most sustainable and deliverable and intended as 
allocations within Part 2 of the Local Plan

East of Whitestiles, Seaton 80 (69 approved 2/2016/0657)
Stainburn Road 120 
Moor Road, Stainburn 75 (approved)
Main Road, Harrington 120 (115 pending 2/2017/0246)
Former Southfield School 65

Total allocation 460

This leaves an outstanding requirement of 1519 dwellings that justifies support for 
additional well related sites across Workington which includes Seaton, Stainburn and 
Harrington.

The figures are subject to change following consultation on Part 2 of the Local Plan and 
also subject to allocated sites becoming undeliverable or additional sites coming forward. 
In maintaining a rolling five year land supply and aiming to achieve the housing strategy 
for growth the proposals are considered to contribute positively.

The scale of the proposal is considered to be acceptable to maintain a sustained growth 
within the Principle Centre of Workington and is consistent with the aims of the spatial 
strategy set out in the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

Page 20



Therefore on balance, despite the fact that the site lies outside of the settlement limit for 
Seaton, officers consider the principle of residential development at this location to be 
acceptable. The site lies directly adjacent to the saved settlement limit with existing built 
development bordering some of its boundaries and therefore, can be considered both 
well related and sustainable. The scale of development proposed, (100 dwellings), is not 
considered to be disproportionate to the size of the village nor its role as part of the 
Principal Centre of Workington as a whole and the aim to achieve and maintain housing 
growth.
The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policies S2, S3 and S5 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

Layout

The site is planned for up to 100 dwellings with shared access and estate road. The 
illustrative plan shows an acceptable layout and density that is considered well related to 
adjacent dwellings and the undetermined smaller residential site under ref 2/2017/0278. 
The precise layout is a reserved matter. 

It is noted that part of the site in the north west corner will remain undeveloped and 
become ‘landlocked should the development as submitted proceed. The applicant has 
stated in the supporting statement that this land will be retained for agricultural use.  
Access to this parcel of land is via the road adjacent to The Old Smithy.  This road leads 
to an existing gate into the site. As such the proposed development site will not require 
any through agricultural traffic. The land is planned to be retained as pasture and 
managed accordingly.

Public Open Space

The development will require an amount of public open space and equipped play areas 
commensurate with the size of the development. Precise details of layout and 
maintenance and management can be conditioned and as part of the Section 106 Legal 
Agreement.

Siting and Design

This again a reserved matter. It is considered that a satisfactory standard of development 
can be achieved compatible with the area and not significantly affecting visual and 
residential amenity subject to siting and house types.

Settlement Character and Landscape Impact

The proposed site is considered to extend the built form of the village as a natural 
‘rounding off’ bounded by existing buildings and the former railway line. The site does not 
have an open boundary of any significance onto open countryside.

It is considered therefore that the development will not impact on settlement form or 
character and landscape setting is not significantly harmed regarding views into and out 
from the village.

Page 21



A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has been submitted that demonstrates this 
satisfactorily.

Highway Issues

This application considers a new access from the public highway. This involves the part 
demolition of the Royal British Legion club (RBL) to gain access to the site. An additional 
access for pedestrian use and emergency vehicle access only is also planned using an 
existing agricultural access on Camerton Road.

The applicant has provided detailed drawings of the principle access to the site (including 
part demolition of the club and rearrangement of the existing car park). Supporting 
information has been submitted regarding the safety of the site access and wider impacts 
form the additional traffic movements associated with the site.

The Highway Authority has considered matters at some length. Additional traffic flow and 
junction capacity assessments have been requested and provided by the applicant for 
their consideration to assess local traffic conditions. This includes the coincidental traffic 
movements to the club and from adjacent residents. A repeat of the original speed survey 
has been undertaken to give a wider picture of traffic speeds adjacent to the site at 
different time of year and weather conditions The Highway Authority has responded 
positively subject to a number of safeguarding highway conditions. The material 
considerations are summarised as follows.

Visibility

Visibility splays of 43 metres in a southerly direction and 47 metres in a northerly 
direction are shown to be achievable on the submitted plans and are acceptable to the 
Highway Authority with the recorded traffic speeds on Camerton Road as proven with the 
repeated speed surveys. The splays are over and above the statutory requirement.

Emergency Access

With regard to emergency access to the site. The Highway Authority has judged that the 
access will be used infrequently and only when the main site access is restricted due to 
an incident or road closure. The impact on amenity and highway safety will therefore be 
minimal with the existing use for agricultural vehicles carrying significant weight with no 
intensification anticipated.

Traffic Flows/Congestion

Of considerable concern to the local community is the matter of traffic congestion along 
Causeway Road and Church Road at peak times. Representations have been made 
regarding the width of Church Road and parked cars resulting in vehicles waiting to pass 
with subsequent backing-up of traffic with impact upon highway safety and general 
standards of residential amenity. There is local objection that the development will add to 
this congestion with impacts on highway safety and general amenity.

The matter of traffic congestion on Church Road and Causeway Road and junction 
capacity has been examined within the applicant’s Transport Assessment with advice 

Page 22



from the Highway Authority on the scope of the survey. In summary the report concludes 
as follows…

A fully classified traffic survey was undertaken at the Main Road / Church Road / Petrol 
Filling Station junction and impacts of the proposed development were also assessed 
with regard to Site Access / Low Seaton junction and Main Street / Lowca Lane / 
Causeway Road junction.

The results detailed in the Transport Assessment illustrate that the proposed 
development is forecast to generate an additional flow of 10 vehicles (1.12% increase) 
through the Main Road/ Lowca Lane / Causeway Road junction during the AM peak hour 
period and 18 (1.91% increase) during the PM peak hour period.  

In addition, an increase of 34 two-way vehicle movements are forecast (3.55% increase) 
through the Main Road/ Church Road / Petrol Filling Station junction during the AM peak 
hour period and 14 (1.42% increase) during the PM peak hour period.

Considering the predicted traffic flow results, and given the impact of the findings based 
upon pre-application scoping advice from the Highway Authority, Officers consider that a 
comprehensive junction analysis has been undertaken for the three junctions with the 
outcome that traffic generated by the proposed development will not create a significant 
negative impact.

In summary, the junction capacity assessments, which have been undertaken on a worst 
case scenario, conclude that the impacts on the Main Road/ Lowca Lane / Causeway 
Road junction and the Main Road / Church Road / Petrol Filling Station junction are all 
forecast to be low. The Highway Authority concurs with this assessment of traffic impact 
from the development.

The Highway Authority has concluded that the additional traffic generated by the 
development will have minimal impact on the locality and that the site access, visibility 
splays, emergency access  and parking provision within the site can be conditioned 
accordingly to safeguard highway safety. They go on to say that the site has good 
permeability and links for pedestrians and cyclists convenient for access to local schools 
and services.

The applicant had originally offered a financial sum for investigations regarding local 
traffic impact and the potential for a Traffic Regulation Order of yellow lines and/or 
additional one way traffic on Church Road. However in the context of the regulations 
relating to s106 Planning Obligations it is considered as being non-essential with the 
Highway Authority confirming that the development is deliverable without this which 
would only serve to affect residential access and reduce on street parking provision. 
Therefore it is considered inclusion of this non-essential item within any s106 would be 
unreasonable.

Drainage

A drainage statement and strategy has been provided. The geology does not allow for 
adequate soakaway and therefore the next sustainable option for surface water drainage 
is to a watercourse.

Page 23



Surface water drainage is planned to the River Derwent via a part culverted watercourse 
known as Gale Brook.

The drainage statement demonstrates that run-off from the proposed development can 
be managed in such a way to ensure that it does not pose a risk to the site or its 
occupants and does not increase flood risk downstream or to the wider catchment. Post-
development discharge rates are to be restricted and attenuated using flow control 
devices so as not to exceed predevelopment run-off rates.

County Council as Local Lead Flood Authority has assessed the principle of the drainage 
solution and their response is summarised as follows………

The proposals show that the watercourse intended for the Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Scheme (SUDS) discharge is Gale Brook. Not only does this have maintenance issues at 
the British Legion site but there are also issues further downstream for the R Derwent 
and Barepot area of Workington.

The applicant was advised of this and were asked to improve on the current greenfield 
run-off rate and add 40% extra storage for climate change rather than simply maintain 
current rates of discharge. The applicant indicated that it is possible to reduce the flow 
rate and has shown that the difference in flow rate could be 5.8l per second less water for 
the indicative layout accessing the watercourse post development,(for a 1 in 100 year 
storm) factoring in a climate change of 40 per cent within the storage. This would be a 
significant improvement on the current greenfield situation.

As an outline application the Lead Local Flood Authority therefore considers that it is 
possible to develop a suitable drainage strategy for the development site in principle. 
However, there are several issues that will need to be addressed during any subsequent 
reserved matters or discharge of conditions applications.  

Firstly, the drainage strategy as set out has little in the way of SUDS methodology and is 
really an attenuation scheme. As such the applicant will need to consider how adequate 
treatment of the surface water will be carried out prior to discharge to the watercourse. 
In many cases treatment of the surface water can be incorporated within amenity areas. 

There appears to be some confusion with regard to the greenfield run-off rates and it 
should be noted that when the detailed design is submitted that the calculations for 
greenfield runoff rates are based on areas that will discharge to the drainage system. 
Generally this means that the greenfield run-off rate should be calculated on the area of 
impermeable areas only for the drainage system. 

It is also noted that the discharge from this site is into a culverted section of watercourse 
and as such the developer should arrange to carry out a suitable condition survey of the 
culverted lengths downstream to the point where the section becomes unculverted. 

The Environment Agency (EA) has responded to confirm that the site is not in a Flood 
Zone and that the matter is the responsibility of the County Council flood team. Similarly 
the EA offers no comment on the issue of downstream flooding in Barepot and 
Workington. They advise that an appropriate Environmental Permit is required regarding 
discharge to a watercourse.

Page 24



Considering the details provided and the response from the Local Lead Flood Authority. 
As an outline application the principle of surface water drainage is considered acceptable 
with regard to the sequential, sustainable approach. The drainage strategy has 
highlighted the potential options for attenuation of surface water discharge to reduce the 
existing greenfield rate and safeguard the threat of local flooding and that of downstream. 
With the support from the County Council the drainage strategy is considered acceptable 
at this stage subject to conditions for further details.

Foul drainage is planned by gravity flow to the main sewer with a connection in Camerton 
Road. United Utilities does not object with pre-application confirmation with the applicant. 

Contaminated Land

The land is within the former Coal Authority consultation zone. The Coal Authority 
identifies only the access within the low risk area. A Phase 1 Desk Top Study and Phase 
2 Site Investigation Methodology Report have been submitted. Allerdale Environmental 
Health has accepted the findings and recommends standard conditions safeguarding 
remediation and verification.

Ecology

A Phase 1 report has been provided that concludes limited habitat potential with no 
species affected. A standard condition to ensure compliance with good working practices 
is considered reasonable to safeguard wildlife interests. A Construction Environmental 
Management Plan is required by condition to safeguard any pollution of local 
watercourses.

Section 106 Agreement

Affordable Housing

The 100 dwellings proposed require a 25% provision of affordable housing to meet the 
requirements of Policy S8. Allerdale Housing Services has recommended a range of 
house types in most need and with a tenure of 75% affordable rent and 25% low cost 
sale to meet policy guidelines. This can be accommodated within an appropriate 
obligation within the Section 106 Agreement

Education Contribution

Cumbria County Council has advised on the potential pupil yield set against the available 
school capacity at primary (infant and junior) and secondary school level. The response 
is summarised as follows……

The proposed development for 109 houses (dwelling mix: 10 x 2 bed, 69 x 3 bed, 19 x 4 
bed, 11 x 5 bed) using the dwelling led model, is theoretically estimated to yield 43 
children: 11 infant, 14 junior and 18 secondary pupils.  The development is in the 
catchment of Seaton Infants; 0.54 and Seaton St. Paul’s Juniors, 0.84 miles and 
Workington Academy for Secondary Education 2.32 miles. 

Page 25



Currently there are no other residential developments affecting the infant and junior 
catchment schools used for this assessment and there are six developments in the wider 
area for the secondary catchment school.

Primary - There are sufficient places in the catchment infant school to accommodate the 
Infant yield from this development. However, there is no capacity in the junior school to 
accommodate any more pupils, therefore no space for the junior yield of 14 places 
generated by this development.  The next nearest school with available places is 
Northside which is over the walking distance threshold.

For this development to be sustainable it will be necessary for additional junior school 
places to be accommodated in Seaton.  The only way to achieve this is to build an 
additional classroom. The County Council has made an initial calculation of a new class 
room to accommodate the additional pupils to be approximately £223,791.
 
Secondary - There are sufficient places available in the catchment school to 
accommodate the secondary pupil yield from this development.  No contribution will be 
sought for secondary education.

Officers would comment on the financial contribution to education as follows. The 
contribution for the construction of a classroom extension can only be reasonably and 
proportionaly based upon the 14 pupil yield. The County’s requested contribution to the 
total classroom build costs is excessive and therefore unreasonable and beyond policy 
guidelines. Under the policy guidance it should alternatively equate to 14/30 of the build 
costs based upon a 30 pupil class. That contribution sum would be £104,435.

Alternatively the current pupil multiplier of £12051 x 14 can be used where school 
improvements are not justified or achievable giving £168,714.

School transport as a third option is not being considered as there is the room and 
potential for a junior school extension , but can be added as an either /or option in the 
event that the classroom option cannot be fulfilled.

On balance the County Council request is unjustified and the more proportional 
alternatives described above can be negotiated with the applicant as part of the Section 
106 Agreement.

School Transport

Primary - Subject to the above contribution being provided no contribution is sought in 
relation to primary school transport.

Secondary - As Workington Academy is within the statutory walking distance and the 
route is considered safe no contribution is sought in relation to primary school transport.

Please note that this is a snapshot in time and there is a possibility that these numbers 
will change between now and the point at which a planning application may be approved. 

The numbers may be affected by subsequent planning applications received between 
now and the approval of the application for this site.  

Page 26



Highways Contribution

The Highway Authority has concluded matters regarding the access, parking and 
increased traffic generated by the development and its impact on local traffic conditions. 
This is reported fully above. In order to safeguard sustainable means of transport, a 
commuted sum of £6600 to provide and monitor a Travel Plan is required.

Representations

193 letters of objection have been received. The overwhelming reasons for 
objection/comment are regarding access, highway safety and traffic congestion in the 
locality. Additionally, the threat of local and downstream flooding has raised significant 
concern. The reasons for refusal are summarised as follows:

Beyond settlement limit of the Local Plan
Other preferred sites
Brownfield sites should be considered 
Site previously discarded during the Local Plan process
Need for housing with local population decline

Overdevelopment of the village
Impact upon settlement character
Density of development
Cumulative impacts with planning applications for residential development 2/2017/0278 
and 2/2017/0279 nearby.
Impact on residential amenity from additional traffic and overlooking issues

Additional traffic will impact upon the capacity of the road infrastructure
Additional traffic will impact upon availability of street parking and ease of passing
Visibility at proposed junction with Main Street
Poor pedestrian access to the site from elsewhere in the village
No bus service to the site

Impact on landscape setting
Loss of green space
Loss of valuable farm land
Loss of hedgerow
Impact upon local ecology

School capacity inadequate
Impact on local sewer and other services

History of flooding at point of access

Impact on house prices
Legal covenant restricting development

Two letters of support have been received.

The matters above have been given full consideration. With confirmation from statutory 

Page 27



consultees where necessary, Planning Officers consider the objections and comments 
are not reasons for refusal or amendment subject to appropriate conditions and 
obligations within a Section 106 Agreement where appropriate.

Conclusion

The proposal for up to 100 dwellings is judged on its individual merits with the smaller 
sites part of the masterplan considered as separate standalone applications. It is not 
considered that there are any significant adverse impacts from the development or any 
cumulative development of all three sites. The proposals can be supported for the 
reasons above with appropriate conditions. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act. There are matters 
regarding the New Homes Bonus Scheme and Council Tax Revenue for the Council. 
This has carried no weight in the determination.

Page 28



Annex 1

Conditions

1. Insofar as this decision grants full permission for the part demolition of the 
existing Royal British Legion building and relocation of its car park, the 
development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004.

2. Insofar as this decision grants full permission for the part demolition of the 
existing Royal British Legion building and relocation of its car park, the 
development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance with 
the following plans:
VC0004 02-01 Rev C - Access Drawing 
17004_PL100 - Site Location Plan
1257901 April 2017 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Statement
1257901 April 2017 Geoenvironmental & Geotechnical Desktop Study
R-2803-01 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
17004 PL111 British Legion Proposed Site Plan                                                        
Reason: In order to comply with Section 51 and Section 91 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3. Insofar as this decision grants full permission for the part demolition of the 
existing Royal British Legion building and relocation of its car park, the 
demolition and car park relocation hereby approved shall be completed and 
the parking provision made fully available before any subsequent residential 
development commences.
Reason : In order to provide an acceptable level of parking provision in the interests 
of highway safety and residential amenity.

4. Insofar as this decision grants outline permission for residential development 
of up to 100 dwellings, before any works commence details of the layout, 
scale and appearance, and landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the town and country Planning 
(General Development Procedure) Order 1995.

5. Insofar as this decision grants outline permission for residential development 
of up to 100 dwellings, the development hereby permitted shall be carried out 
in accordance with the following plans:
VC0004 02-01 Rev C - Access Drawing 
17004_PL100 - Site Location Plan
1257901 April 2017 Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Statement
1257901 April 2017 Geoenvironmental & Geotechnical Desktop Study
R-2803-01 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

Page 29



6. Insofar as this decision grants outline permission for residential development 
of up to 100 dwellings, the submission of all reserved matters applications 
shall be made no later than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of 
this permission and the development shall begin no later  than whichever is 
the later of the following dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, 
or 
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the 
last such matter to be approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

7. Any application for reserved matters of layout shall include plans showing the 
following:
(a) Cross sections through the site;
(b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels;
(c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings;
(d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas;
and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 
approved.
Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation to the 
adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity.

8. Prior to commencement of development (or relevant phase of development), 
the carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways (including the pedestrian and 
EVA links to Camerton Road, and the Cycle network to the north) shall be 
designed, constructed, drained and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and 
in this respect further details, including longitudinal/cross sections, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before work 
commences on the relevant phase.  No work shall be commenced until a full 
specification has been approved.  These details shall be in accordance with 
the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide.  Any works so 
approved for the relevant phase shall be constructed before the development 
is complete.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway 
safety.

9. Prior to commencement of development, the visibility splays providing clear 
visibility of 43 metres in a southerly direction and 47 metres in a northerly 
direction measured 2.4 metres down the centre of the access road and 1metre 
from the nearside channel line of the major road shall have been provided at 
the junction of the access road with the County highway.  Notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, vehicle or object 
of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other 
plants shall be planted or be permitted to grown within the visibility splay 
which obstruct the visibility splays.  The visibility splays shall be constructed 
before general development of the site commences so that construction traffic 

Page 30



is safeguarded.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

10. No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road including footways and 
cycleways to serve such dwellings has been constructed in all respects to 
base course level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate road 
has been provided and brought into full operational use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

11. Details of the proposed crossings of the highway verge and/or footway  for the 
emergency access onto Camerton Road shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval. Information regarding the design of the 
emergency access its functionality and measures to prohibit through traffic 
should also be provided. The residential phase of the development shall not 
be commenced until the details have been approved and the crossings have 
been constructed.
Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of crossing for pedestrian safety.

12. Prior to commencement of development, a Construction Method Statement 
including details of all on-site construction works, post-construction 
reinstatement, drainage, mitigation, and other restoration, together with 
details of their timetabling has been submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority and shall include measures to secure:
a) formation of the construction compound and access tracks and any areas 
of hardstanding;
b) cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;
c) the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or 
deposit of any materials on the highway;
d) post-construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas
The Construction Method Statement shall be carried out as approved.
Reason : In the interests of highway safety.

13.  Prior to commencement of development a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The CTMP shall include details of: 
a) the construction of the site access and the creation, positioning and 
maintenance of associated visibility splays;
b) details of any temporary access gates that should be hung to open away 
from the public highway no less than 10m from the carriageway edge and 
shall incorporate appropriate visibility displays;
c) proposed accommodation works and where necessary a programme for 
their subsequent removal and the reinstatement of street furniture and verges, 
where required, along the route;
d) the pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for 
accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a 
Highway Authority representative;
e) details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;
f) retained areas for vehicle parking, maneuvering, loading and unloading for 
their specific purpose during the development including the provision of 
parking spaces for residents and visitors

Page 31



g) construction vehicle routing;
h) the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and 
other public rights of way/footway;
i) the scheduling and timing of movements, temporary warning signs and 
banksman
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Construction Traffic Management Plan.
Reason : In the interests of highway safety.

14. Prior to commencement of development, full details shall be provided and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority of the surface water 
system demonstrating that no flooding will occur on any part of the site for a 1 
in 30 year event unless designed to do so, flooding will not occur to any 
building in a 1 in 100 year event plus 40 % to account for climate change, and 
where reasonably possible flows resulting from rainfall in excess of a 1 in 100 
year 6 hour rainfall event are managed in conveyance routes (plans of flow 
routes etc). The proposed scheme should meet the requirements of 
Sustainable drainage systems: non-statutory technical standards (March 
2015). Additional details shall be provided to include…
a) to confirm how the design of the surface water drainage system will 
mitigate any negative impact of surface water from the development on flood 
risk outside the development boundary
b) details of future maintenance and operation of the surface water system
c) an adequate condition survey of the culverted watercourse downstream of 
the discharge point, (to where the system becomes de-culverted) and 
remediation of any defects.
Reason: To manage flood risk within the development that results from surface 
water to minimise the risk to people and property.

15. Prior to commencement of development, a Construction Surface Water 
Management Plan shall be provided and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented solely in 
accordance with the approved scheme.

       Reason: To safeguard against flooding to surrounding sites and to safeguard against 
pollution of the watercourse running through the site.

16. No surface water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public 
sewer. Any variation to the discharge of foul water associated with the 
residential phase of development shall be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the residential development. 
The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue 
increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding.

17. No residential development shall take place until a detailed acoustic report, 
carried out by a competent person in accordance with the current edition of 
BS 8233, BS4142 and the WHO Guidelines on community noise, on the 
existing noise climate at the development site has been submitted to and been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The aim of the report will 
be to establish whether sound attenuation measures are required to protect 

Page 32



future residents from the transferral of sound from commercial premises and 
from the electricity substation. In the event that the acoustic report finds that 
the following noise levels would be exceeded, a noise insulation scheme shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
55dB LAeq 16hr in outdoor living areas 
40dB LAeq 16hr in all rooms during the day-time (0700 - 2300) 
30 dB LAeq 8hr in all bedrooms during the night time (2300 - 0700).
and 45 dB LAmax in bedrooms during the night-time 
The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the occupation of any 
dwelling and shall be permanently retained thereafter.
Reason : In order to safeguard residential amenity of any future occupants.

18. Prior to development (or relevant phase of development), a Construction and 
Demolition Method Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The statement shall include the following: 
a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic; 
b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage 
from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. 
All measurements should make reference to BS7445. 
c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties 
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light 
pollution. 
d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to protected species 
during construction. 
e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the construction 
or demolition; 
f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction and 
demolition; 
g) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
h) Hours of working and deliveries; 
i) Details of lighting to be used on site. 

       j) Appropriate pollution prevention guideline measures to include biosecurity, 
materials and machinery storage, and mitigation for the control and 
management of noise, dust, surface water run-off and waste to protect Gale 
Brook and any surface water drains from sediment, and pollution from cement 
or fuel.
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.
Reason : In the interests of general local amenity and in the interests of 
safeguarding ecological interests and biodiversity

19. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been carried 
out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works 
for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the commencement.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 

Page 33



possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

20. Where land affected by contamination is found which poses unacceptable 
risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development (or relevant phase of development), shall take place until a 
detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include an appraisal of 
remediation options, identification of the preferred option(s), the proposed 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a description and 
programme of the works to be undertaken including the verification plan.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

21. Should a remediation scheme be required, the approved strategy shall be 
implemented and a verification report submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

22. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All work shall be undertaken in 
accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

23.  The development hereby approved shall only be undertaken in full accordance  
with the recommendations and mitigation outlined in the submitted ecological 
report ref R-2803-01 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal.                                     
Reason : In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife and biodiversity. 

24.  No residential development shall take place until a Travel Plan for the 
development hereby approved has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan shall be 
implemented within one month of the first occupation of any dwelling and 

Page 34



shall thereafter be maintained for the lifetime of the development.                  
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives and ensure that 
the local road network continues to fulfil its purpose as part of the national system of 
routes for through traffic, in accordance with Section 10(2) of the Highways Act 
1980. 

25.  Monitoring shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Travel Plan 
and the results of the monitoring shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority within one month at the end of each monitoring period. Where 
targets are not achieved the Travel Plan Co-ordinator will be notified in writing 
and the Travel Plan shall then be reviewed and updated and submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for approval within one month of the receipt of the 
notification. The updated Travel Plan shall be implemented within one month 
of the date of approval.                                                                                    
Reason: To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives and ensure that 
the local road network continues to fulfil its purpose as part of the national system of 
routes for through traffic, in accordance with Section 10(2) of the Highways Act 
1980. 

26.  No residential development shall commence until full details of the layout, 
maintenance and management of the public open space including equipped 
areas for play have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The public open space shall be fully implemented prior to 
the occupation of the sixtieth dwellinghouse on the site and retained for the 
lifetime of the development.

       Reason: To ensure the satisfactory provision of open space in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policies S2, S4, S24, S25, S26 and DM14 
of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

27.  Before development commences details of the Royal British Legion Club side 
elevation and adjacent surfaces following the part demolition shall be 
provided to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing.  The 
approved details shall be implemented prior to the occupation of any 
dwellinghouse 

       Reason : In the interests of visual amenity.

Proactive Statement

Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying planning policies, constraints, stakeholder representations and 
matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and where appropriate 
negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal to 
address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

Page 35



Notes to Applicant: The applicant/developer is reminded of the need for appropriate 
licences and permits from the Highway Authority and an Environmental Permit from the 
Environment Agency regarding surface water discharge to a watercourse.

Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2017/0278

Proposed 
Development:

Proposed outline application for the erection of 5 dwellings 
considering reserved matter of access only.

Location: North of Camerton Road
Seaton
Workington

Applicant: Ms A. Copsey

Recommendation: APPROVE

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
Development

On balance, despite the fact that the site lies outside of the 
settlement limit for Workington/Seaton, Officers consider the 
principle of residential development at this location to be 
acceptable. 

The site lies as an infill site between other buildings edge of the 
settlement limit and therefore, can be considered both well related 
and sustainable. 

The scale of development proposed, (5 dwellings), is not 
considered to be disproportionate to the size of the village nor its 
role as part of the Principle Centre of Workington as a whole and 
the aim to achieve and maintain housing growth.

Access/Highway 
Issues

The proposed access is considered acceptable with the potential 
for adequate parking and turning within the site.

With regard to the traffic flows and speeds passing the site the 
proposed visibility splays of 51.5 metres in a northerly and 53.4 
metres in a southerly direction are considered acceptable. 

Additional traffic generated by the development of 5 dwellings is 
considered not to be significant. No Traffic Regulation Orders are 
required.

There are not considered to be any highway issues that would 
have cumulative impacts with the other two sites nearby.

The Highway Authority does not object with standard conditions.

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



Drainage A drainage statement and strategy has been provided. The 
geology does not allow for adequate soakaway and therefore the 
next sustainable option for surface water drainage is to a 
watercourse.

Surface water drainage is planned from the site across the 
applicant’s land with a piped outfall direct to the River Derwent. 
The solution does not rely on Gale Brook .

The drainage statement demonstrates that run-off from the 
proposed development can be managed in such a way to ensure 
that it does not pose a risk to the site or its occupants and does not 
increase flood risk downstream or to the wider catchment. Post-
development discharge rates are to be restricted and attenuated 
using flow control devices so as not to exceed pre-development 
run-off rates.

Foul drainage is planned to the main sewer east of the site with a 
connection in Camerton Road. This cannot be achieved by gravity 
therefore a pumping station is planned on the land described 
opposite the site. Further details of this can be conditioned 
regarding maintenance and noise emissions. The applicant has a 
fall-back alternative of non-mains drainage.

Affordable Housing The matter of affordable housing is dictated by the Ministerial 
Statement that supersedes Policy S8 of the Local Plan. This states 
that “contributions should not be sought from developments of 10 
units or less, and which have a maximum combined gross 
floorspace of no more than 1000 square metres”. The site is 
considered as a standalone development of five dwellings and not 
cumulative to the 100 dwellings on the adjacent site that is subject 
to the full requirement of affordable housing.

The application is in outline with an illustrative layout. As such the 
limit of 1000 square metres can be conditioned ahead of any 
reserved matters application which is the Council’s procedure.

Proposal

Outline application for the erection of 5 detached dwellings considering access only. An 
illustrative layout has been provided.

The site is located adjacent to a development proposal of 100 dwellings (2/2017/0277) 
and associated with a smaller site near opposite of 4 dwellings regarding discharge of 
surface water and foul drainage (2/2017/0279). These proposals are by the same 
applicant but are considered standalone and judged separately on their own merits.

Page 40



Site

The site comprises agricultural land on the edge of the settlement adjacent to and 
accessed from Camerton Road.
 
The proposed development site is between residential properties to the south-west and 
north-east with dwellings across Camerton Road opposite to the south-east. A large 
agricultural field is to the north-west subject to the application for 100 dwellings under ref 
2/2017/0278. A public right of way on the eastern boundary of the site is noted that leads 
to the cycle-path (disused railway line).

The ancillary land proposed for the foul sewage pumping station is adjacent to a 
residential property to the south of the site on the applicant’s land also associated with 
the smaller proposed site for 4 dwellings considered under 2/2017/0289. 

The proposed site as a whole is within close proximity to the centre of Seaton with 
available services and facilities.

Relevant Policies

NPPF

Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Promoting sustainable transport
Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes
Requiring good design
Promoting healthy communities

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 Adopted 2014

Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8 - Affordable Housing  

Relevant Planning History

None

Page 41



Representations

Parish Council- Objection and comments as reported fully below.

Highway Authority – No objection subject to conditions

Local Lead Flood Authority – No objections subject to conditions

Environmental Protection – No objections subject to standard conditions regarding 
contamination and noise emissions from pumping station.

Environment Agency – No objection as the site is not in a Flood Zone. Advice that 
Environmental Permit required.

Fire Officer – No objection

United Utilities – No objection and standing advice and condition regarding surface 
water drainage,

The application has been advertised on site and adjoining landowners where known have 
been notified.  62 letters of objection have been received as fully reported below.

Assessment

Principle of Development

For the avoidance of doubt the application for five dwellings is considered as a 
standalone application albeit directly adjacent to the larger site for 100 dwellings (ref 
2/2017/0277)

In that respect the principle of development is assessed in the same way regarding 
sustainable housing well related to the settlement form providing a windfall site 
contributing to the Council’s strategy of housing growth.

Policy S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) states that new residential development will 
be concentrated within the physical limits of Principal, Key and Local Service Centres. As 
a settlement, Seaton is included as part of Workington for the purpose of settlement 
hierarchy and housing allocation and growth. 

The proposed development site lies outside of, but directly adjacent to the defined 
settlement limit for Workington (including Seaton). Notwithstanding the recent adoption of 
the Local Plan (Part 1) and the spatial strategy contained therein, the defined limits for 
individual settlements continue to be derived from the Allerdale Local Plan 1999. The 
LPA is currently in the process of reviewing settlement limits as part of the site allocations 
process but this development plan document, Allerdale Local Plan Part 2, is still some 
way from adoption. 

Page 42



Taking into account the age of the current defined settlement limits and also principles of 
sustainable development set out within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
Officers consider that an element of flexibility must be applied when considering 
proposals for development that lie outside of them.

This is a principle that has been accepted by the Development Panel in considering 
proposals elsewhere in the Borough, most recently at the site adjacent to the Coachman 
Inn, Seaton approved by Members under ref 2/2016/0657.

The Council is currently able to demonstrate a five year land supply but of only 5.3 years. 
In that respect, with Workington (including Seaton) as a Principle Centre and the focus 
for housing growth of 35% across the Plan area, additional, development sites can be 
supported to sustain housing growth. The Local Plan requires the delivery of at least 
5,471 dwellings during the plan period and the proposed 5 dwellings are considered a 
valuable contribution to delivering that housing need.

The scale of the proposal is not considered as strategic and is viewed as being 
acceptable to maintain a sustained growth within the Principle Centre of Workington and 
is consistent with the aims of the spatial strategy set out in the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1).

Therefore on balance, notwithstanding the fact that the site lies outside of the settlement 
limit for Seaton, Officers consider the principle of residential development at this location 
to be acceptable. The site lies directly adjacent to the saved settlement limit and 
therefore, can be considered both well related and sustainable. The scale of the minor 
development proposed, is not considered to be disproportionate to the size of the village 
nor its role as part of the Principle Centre of Workington.

The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policies S2, S3 and S5 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

Affordable Housing.

As a site beyond the settlement limit the matter of affordable housing is dictated by the 
Ministerial Statement that supersedes Policy S8 of the Local Plan. This states that 
“contributions should not be sought from developments of 10 units or less, and which 
have a maximum combined gross floorspace of no more than 1,000 square metres”. The 
site is considered as a standalone development of five dwellings and not cumulative to 
the 100 dwellings on the adjacent site that is subject to the full requirement of affordable 
housing.

The application is in outline with an illustrative layout. As such the limit of 1000 square 
metres can be conditioned ahead of any reserved matters application which is the 
Council’s current procedure to safeguard this issue.

Layout

The site is planned for 5 dwellings with shared access and estate road independent from 
the larger site of 100 dwellings. The illustrative plan shows an acceptable layout that can 

Page 43



be achieved well related to adjacent dwellings and the yet to be determined residential 
site adjacent. The precise layout is a reserved matter.

Siting and Design

This again a reserved matter. It is considered that satisfactory standard of development 
can be achieved compatible with the area and not significantly affecting visual and 
residential amenity

Highway Issues

This application considers a new access from the public highway. The access is 
designed with visibility splays within the applicant’s control and the highway verge that 
can be conditioned for retention. A frontage pavement is planned that will link with the 
existing footpath on the edge of the site. The existing field access is to be permanently 
stopped up.

The applicant has provided a Technical Note document regarding access and traffic 
issues along with a speed survey. The report summarises that the average speed 
passing the frontage of the site is 28.9 mph. The report shows that traffic flows on 
Camerton Road are low, with average peak hour flows ranging from 23 to 30 vehicles, 
with a total average recorded daily flow of 449 vehicles during a weekday and 431 during 
a 7 day week. The development of 5 dwellings will require a maximum parking provision 
10-15 cars depending on house types with associated traffic movements.

With regard to the traffic flows and speeds passing the site the proposed visibility splays 
of 51.5 metres in a northerly and 53.4 metres in a southerly direction are considered 
acceptable. No Traffic Regulation Orders are required.

The Highway Authority does not object subject to standard highway conditions. 

There are not considered to be any highway issues that would have cumulative impacts 
with the other two sites nearby.

Drainage

A drainage statement and strategy has been provided. The geology does not allow for 
adequate soakaway and therefore the next sustainable option for surface water drainage 
is to a watercourse.

Surface water drainage is planned from the site across the applicant’s land with an outfall 
direct to the River Derwent. The solution does not rely on Gale Brook as is the case with 
the larger site for 100 dwellings.

The drainage statement demonstrates that run-off from the proposed development can 
be managed in such a way to ensure that it does not pose a risk to the site or its 
occupants and does not increase flood risk downstream or to the wider catchment. Post-
development discharge rates are to be restricted and attenuated using flow control 
devices so as not to exceed predevelopment run-off rates.

Page 44



Foul drainage is planned to the main sewer east of the site with a connection in 
Camerton Road. This cannot be achieved by gravity therefore a pumping station is 
planned on the land described opposite the site. Further details of this can be conditioned 
regarding maintenance and noise emissions. There are less sustainable alternatives of 
non-mains drainage within the site that would avoid the need for a pumping station. 
There is also the possibility of connection to the foul drainage of the larger adjacent 
development should both be approved and delivered simultaneously.

Contaminated Land

The land is within the former Coal Authority consultation zone. As Phase 1 Desk Top 
Study has been provided that identified the need for a further Phase 2 Investigation. 
Standard conditions are recommended by Allerdale Environmental Protection.

Ecology

A Phase 1 report has been provided that concludes the following…. 

The site has been found to be of negligible value for wildlife supporting a very limited
number of species with  poor habitats. It is not considered suitable for protected or 
notable fauna and there are no significant constraints to the site’s development. Impacts 
on nearby wildlife sites have been screened out by Natural England on the
proviso that appropriate measures are put in place to prevent construction and
operational run-off into the local catchment. This can be agreed through a suitable 
planning condition. It is felt that this report presents sufficient evidence of the wildlife 
value of the site and no additional surveys are considered necessary to support the 
planning application.

Section 106 Agreement

As a standalone site for just five dwellings there is no requirement for any contributions to 
education or highway improvements or the provision of affordable housing.

Representations

The Town Council has objected and their response quoted as follows….

Objections based on concern with ingress & egress to a small country road, 
encompassing poor sight lines, with no pavements & no room to introduce them, together 
with unsuitable proposals for pedestrian access through fields or across a cycletrack to a 
fence. It is suggested that the walk to school times have been miscalculated.

Officers would comment that the submitted plans do show a proposed footway on the site 
frontage to safeguard pedestrian access that extends to an existing public footpath. The 
Highway Authority does not object to the access to the minor road with adequate visibility 
splays demonstrated and highway safety safeguarded.

The site has an off-road pedestrian link into the village via the public right of way and the 
cycleway. Further connectivity would be available should the adjacent site for 100 
dwellings be developed. A pedestrian link as a highway pavement back into the village is 

Page 45



not considered necessary by the Highway Authority commensurate with this small scale 
development of 5 dwellings.

62 letters of objection have been received. The overwhelming reasons for 
objection/comment are regarding access, highway/pedestrian safety and traffic 
congestion in the locality. Additionally, the threat of local and downstream flooding has 
raised significant concern along with issues of visual and landscape impact, house type 
design and general impact on residential amenity. The objections also refer to cumulative 
impacts with the other two residential sites nearby under consideration

The matters above have been given full consideration. With confirmation from statutory 
consultees where necessary, Planning officers consider the objections and comments 
are not reasons for amendment or refusal subject to appropriate conditions.

Conclusion

The application is considered on its own individual planning merits and the proposal can 
be supported for the reasons above with appropriate conditions. As an extension of the 
larger site for 100 dwellings and added to the smaller site of four dwellings, it is Officers’ 
opinion that there are no significant cumulative impacts should multiple developments be 
implemented. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act. There are matters with 
regard to the New Homes Bonus Scheme and additional Council tax revenue. This has 
carried no weight in the determination.

Page 46



Annex 1

Conditions

1. Before any works commence details of the layout, scale, appearance, and 
landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in accordance 
with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2015.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans:
VC0004 02-01 Rev C - Access Drawing 
17004_PL200 - Site Location plan
1257902 April 2017 Drainage Statement
1257902 April 2017 Geoenvironmental & Geotechnical Desktop Study
R-2803-02 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
17004_PL202 - Proposed Masterplan Plot 2                                                                
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete accordance 
with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations to the scheme 
are properly considered.

3. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 
than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission and the 
development shall begin no later  than whichever is the later of the following 
dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, or 
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, 
in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

4. Any application for reserved matters of layout shall include plans showing the 
following:
(a) Cross sections through the site;
(b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels;
(c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings;
(d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas;
and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 
approved.
Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation to the 
adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity.

5. The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear 
visibility of 51.5 metres in a northerly and 53.4 metres in a southerly direction 
measured 2.4metres down the centre of the access road have been provided at 
the junction of the access road with the County highway. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Page 47



(England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating 
to permitted development, no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be 
erected, parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or 
be permitted to grown within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility 
splays.  The visibility splays shall be constructed before general development of 
the site commences so that construction traffic is safeguarded.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

6. No dwellings shall be occupied until the shared private access to serve such 
dwellings has been constructed in all respects to base course level and street 
lighting where it is to form part of the estate road has been provided and brought 
into full operational use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

7. Details of proposed crossings of the highway verge and/or footway shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The development shall 
not be commenced until the details have been approved and the crossings have 
been constructed.
Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of crossing for pedestrian safety.

8. Development shall not be begun until a Construction Method Statement 
including details of all on-site construction works, post-construction 
reinstatement, drainage, mitigation, and other restoration, together with details of 
their timetabling has been submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority and shall include measures to secure:
a) formation of the construction compound and access tracks and any areas of 
hardstanding;
b) cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;
c) the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or 
deposit of any materials on the highway;
d) post-construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas
The Construction Method Statement shall be carried out as approved.
Reason : In the interests of highway safety

9. Development shall not be begun until a Construction Traffic Management Plan 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The CTMP shall include details of: 
a) the construction of the site access and the creation, positioning and 
maintenance of associated visibility splays;
b) access gates will be hung to open away from the public highway no less than 
10m from the carriageway edge and shall incorporate appropriate visibility 
displays;
c) proposed accommodation works and where necessary a programme for their 
subsequent removal and the reinstatement of street furniture and verges, where 
required, along the route;
d) the pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for 
accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a Highway 
Authority representative;
e) details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;
f) retained areas for vehicle parking, maneuvering, loading and unloading for 

Page 48



their specific purpose during the development;
g) construction vehicle routing;
h) the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and other 
public rights of way/footway;
i) the scheduling and timing of movements, temporary warning signs and 
banksman
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Construction 
Traffic Management Plan.                                                                                            
Reason : In the interests of highway safety. 

10. The access and parking/turning requirements, shall be implemented before  
any building work commences on site so that constructional traffic can park and 
turn clear of the highway.  
Reason:  The carrying out of this development without the provision of these facilities 
during the construction work is likely to lead to inconvenience and danger to road users. 

11. No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the vehicular access, 
parking and turning requirements have been constructed and have been brought 
into use. The vehicular access, parking and turning provisions shall be retained 
and capable of use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed or altered 
without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning provision when 
the development is brought into use. 

12. No development shall commence until full details of the foul water and surface 
water system demonstrating that no flooding will occur on any part of the site for a 
1 in 30 year event unless designed to do so, flooding will not occur to any building 
in a 1 in 100 year event plus 40 % to account for climate change, and where 
reasonably possible flows resulting from rainfall in excess of a 1 in 100 year 6 hour 
rainfall event are managed in conveyance routes (plans of flow routes etc) have 
been agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The proposed scheme 
should meet the requirements of Sustainable Drainage Systems: non-statutory 
technical standards (March 2015).
The approved details shall be implemented prior to the occupation of any dwelling 
on the site.
Reason: To manage flood risk within the development that results from surface water to 
minimise the risk to people and property.

13. No development shall commence until full details of the proposed foul drainage 
pumping station, including noise data and its future management and maintenance 
are provided to the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be 
implemented prior to the occupation of any dwelling on the site.
Reason: To secure a satisfactory means of foul water discharge and in the interests of 
residential amenity.

14. No development shall be built above plinth level until details of the future 
maintenance and operation of the surface water system are agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority.
The approved details shall therefafter be maintained in accordance with the 

Page 49



approved details.Reason: To ensure the surface water system continues to function 
as designed.

15. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been carried 
out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works for 
the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the commencement.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

16. Where land affected by contamination is found which poses unacceptable 
risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the 
preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, 
and a description and programme of the works to be undertaken including the 
verification plan. 
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

17. Should a remediation scheme be required, the approved strategy shall be 
implemented and a verification report submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. 
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

18. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the site 
affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks 
are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall be implemented 
prior to the development (or relevant phase of development) being brought into 
use. All work shall be undertaken in accordance with current UK guidance, 
particularly CLR11.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan 
(Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 50



19. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
statement shall include the following: 
a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the development, 
including site and staff traffic; 
b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the construction 
and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage from vibration, as 
well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. All measurements 
should make reference to BS7445. 
c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties from 
construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light pollution. 
d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to protected species 
during construction. 
e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the construction or 
demolition; 
f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction and 
demolition; 
g) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
h) Hours of working and deliveries; 
i) Details of lighting to be used on site. 
j) Appropriate pollution prevention guideline measures to include biosecurity, 
materials and machinery storage, and mitigation for the control and management 
of noise, dust, surface water run-off and waste to protect any watercourse or 
surface water drains from sediment, and pollution from cement or fuel.                                                                                 
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.
Reason : In the interests of residential amenity and of safeguarding ecological interests 
and biodiversity.

20. The development shall be undertaken only in full accordance with the 
submitted ecological survey R-2803-02 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal           
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding local wildlife interests and biodiversity.

21. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
combined gross floor space of the housing development hereby approved shall 
not exceed 1000sqm.
Reason: Housing development exceeding 1000sqm would trigger the requirement for 
an affordable housing contribution in accordance with policy S8 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1) 2014 and no provision has been made as part of this proposal.

22. A phasing plan shall be provided with the first reserved matters application 
for approval by the Local Planning Authority, which demonstrates how the 
1000sqm gross floor space specified by condition 21 will be distributed between 
all the dwellinghouses hereby approved. Any subsequent reserved matters 
application would need to demonstrate conformity with the phasing plan as 
approved. 
Reason: To ensure that the 1000sqm gross floor space specified by condition 21 is 
distributed appropriately across the site, so as to achieve a satisfactory form of 
development.

Page 51



Proactive Statement

Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying planning policies, constraints, stakeholder representations and 
matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and where appropriate 
negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal to 
address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

Notes to Applicant: The applicant/developer is reminded of the necessary permits and 
licences required from the Highway Authority and an Environmental Permit from the 
Environment Agency.

Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2017/0279

Proposed 
Development:

Outline application for the erection of 4 dwellings considering 
reserved matter of access only.

Location: Hillside
Camerton Road
Seaton
Workington

Applicant: Ms A. Copsey

Recommendation: APPROVE

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
development

On balance, despite the fact that the site lies outside of the 
settlement limit for Workington/Seaton, Officers consider the 
principle of residential development at this location to be 
acceptable. 

The site lies as an infill site between other buildings edge of the 
settlement limit and therefore, can be considered both well 
related and sustainable. 

The scale of development proposed, (4 dwellings), is not 
considered to be disproportionate to the size of the village nor 
its role as part of the Principle Centre of Workington as a whole 
and the aim to achieve and maintain housing growth.

Access/Traffic 
Issues

The proposed access currently used as an agricultural access is 
considered acceptable for residential purposes with the potential 
for adequate parking and turning within the site.

The four dwellings will require 8-12 parking spaces depending 
on house types with associated traffic movements.

With regard to the traffic flows and speeds passing the site the 
proposed visibility splays of 53 metres in both directions are 
considered acceptable. 

Additional traffic generated by the development is considered 
not to be significant. No Traffic Regulation Orders are required.

There are not considered to be any highway issues that would 
have cumulative impacts with the other two sites nearby.

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



The Highway Authority does not object with standard conditions.

Drainage A drainage statement and strategy has been provided. The 
geology does not allow for adequate soakaway and therefore 
the next sustainable option for surface water drainage is to a 
watercourse.

Surface water drainage is planned from the site across the 
applicant’s land with a piped outfall direct to the River Derwent. 
The solution does not rely on Gale Brook.

The drainage statement demonstrates that run-off from the 
proposed development can be managed in such a way to 
ensure that it does not pose a risk to the site or its occupants 
and does not increase flood risk downstream or to the wider 
catchment. Post-development discharge rates are to be 
restricted and attenuated using flow control devices so as not to 
exceed predevelopment run-off rates.

Foul drainage is planned to the main sewer east of the site with 
a connection in Camerton Road. This cannot be achieved by 
gravity therefore a pumping station is planned on the land 
described opposite the site. Further details of this can be 
conditioned regarding maintenance and noise emissions. The 
applicant has a fall-back alternative of non-mains drainage.

Affordable Housing  The matter of affordable housing is dictated by the Ministerial 
Statement that supersedes Policy S8 of the Local Plan. This 
states that “contributions should not be sought from 
developments of 10 units or less, and which have a maximum 
combined gross floorspace of no more than 1000 square 
metres”. The site is considered as a standalone development of 
five dwellings and not cumulative to the 100 dwellings on the 
adjacent site that is subject to the full requirement of affordable 
housing.

The application is in outline with an illustrative layout. As such 
the limit of 1000 square metres can be conditioned ahead of any 
reserved matters application which is the Council’s procedure.

Proposal

Outline application for the erection of 4 detached dwellings considering access only. An 
illustrative layout has been provided.

Page 56



The site is part of a wider masterplan comprising two other sites of 100 dwellings 
(2/2017/0277) opposite to the north-west and a site of five dwellings to the nearby to the 
north (2/2017/0278). These sites are considered standalone and judged separately on 
their own merits.

Site History.

Pre-application advice has been given (ref PPA/2015/0250) that supported the principle 
of development subject to consultation.

The applicant engaged separately with the Highway Authority regarding the access to the 
site and scope of the traffic impact assessment required.

Site

The site comprises agricultural land on the edge of the settlement adjacent to and 
accessed from Camerton Road.
 
The proposed development site is between residential properties to the south-west and 
north-east with dwellings across Camerton Road opposite to the north-west. Open 
countryside in the applicant’s ownership is noted to the south-east with the River Derwent 
beyond.

The ancillary land proposed for the foul sewage treatment and pumping station is part of 
the site adjacent to a residential property to the south-west. This facility is also required 
associated with the site for 5 dwellings to the north of the site considered under 
2/2017/0288. 

The proposed site is within close proximity to the centre of Seaton with available services 
and facilities.

Relevant Policies

NPPF

Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Promoting sustainable transport
Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes
Requiring good design
Promoting healthy communities

Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 Adopted 2014

Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage

Page 57



Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 - Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S7 - A mixed and balanced housing market
Policy S8 - Affordable Housing  

Representations

Parish Council – Objection received on highway and pedestrian safety grounds and 
reported fully below.

Highway Authority – No objections subject to safeguarding conditions

Local Lead Flood Authority – No objections subject to safeguarding conditions 
regarding surface water drainage

Environment Agency – No objections as the site is not in a Flood Zone. Advice 
regarding the need for an Environmental Permit.

Natural England – No objection subject to standing advice and a condition regarding a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan to safeguard impact upon local 
watercourses and wildlife during construction.

Environmental Protection – No objection subject to standing advice on contamination 
and noise emissions from the proposed pumping station.

United Utilities – No objection and standing advice regarding foul and surface water 
drainage.

The application has been advertised on site and adjoining landowners where known have 
been notified. 68 letters of objection have been received as reported below.

Assessment

Principle of Development

For the avoidance of doubt the application for 4 dwellings is considered as a separate 
standalone application albeit nearby to the other applications.

In that respect the principle of development is assessed in the same way regarding 
sustainable housing well related to the settlement form providing a windfall site 
contributing to the Council’s strategy of housing growth.

Page 58



Policy S5 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) states that new residential development will 
be concentrated within the physical limits of Principal, Key and Local Service Centres. As 
a settlement, Seaton is included as part of Workington for the purpose of settlement 
hierarchy and housing allocation and growth. 

The proposed development site lies outside of, but adjacent to the defined settlement 
limit for Workington (including Seaton) and appears as a natural infill between existing 
development. Notwithstanding the recent adoption of the Local Plan (Part 1) and the 
spatial strategy contained therein, the defined limits for individual settlements continue to 
be derived from the Allerdale Local Plan 1999. The LPA is currently in the process of 
reviewing settlement limits as part of the site allocations process but this development 
plan document, Allerdale Local Plan Part 2, is still some way from adoption. 

Taking into account the age of the current defined settlement limits and also principles of 
sustainable development set out within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
Officers consider that an element of flexibility must be applied when considering 
proposals for development that lie outside of them.

This is a principle that has been accepted by the Development Panel in considering 
proposals elsewhere in the Borough, most recently at the site adjacent to the Coachman 
Inn, Seaton approved by Members under ref 2/2016/0657.

The Council is currently able to demonstrate a five year land supply but only 5.3 years. In 
that respect, with Workington (including Seaton) as a Principle Centre and the focus for 
housing growth of 35% across the Plan area, additional, development sites can be 
supported to sustain housing growth. The Local Plan requires the delivery of at least 
5,471 dwellings during the plan period and the proposed 4 dwellings are considered a 
positive contribution to delivering that housing need.

The minor scale of the proposal is considered to be acceptable to maintain a sustained 
growth within the Principle Centre of Workington and is consistent with the aims of the 
spatial strategy set out in the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

Therefore on balance, notwithstanding the fact that the site lies outside of the settlement 
limit for Seaton, officers consider the principle of residential development at this location 
to be acceptable. The site lies directly adjacent to the saved settlement limit and 
therefore, can be considered both well related and sustainable. The scale of 
development proposed, (4 dwellings), is not considered to be disproportionate to the size 
of the village nor its role as part of the Principle Centre of Workington as a whole and the 
aim to achieve and maintain housing growth.

The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policies S2, S3 and S5 of 
the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1).

Affordable Housing.

As a site beyond the settlement limit the matter of affordable housing is dictated by the 
Ministerial Statement that supersedes Policy S8 of the Local Plan. This states that 
“contributions should not be sought from developments of 10 units or less, and which 

Page 59



have a maximum combined gross floorspace of no more than 1000 square metres”. The 
site is considered as a standalone development of four dwellings and not cumulative to 
the 100 dwellings on the adjacent site that is subject to the full requirement of affordable 
housing.

The application is in outline with an illustrative layout. As such the limit of 1000 square 
metres can be conditioned ahead of any reserved matters application which is the 
Council’s procedure.

Layout

The site is planned for 4 dwellings with shared access and estate road independent from 
the other sites. The illustrative plan shows an acceptable layout that can be achieved well 
related to adjacent dwellings. The precise layout is a reserved matter.

Siting and Design

This again a reserved matter. It is considered that satisfactory standard of development 
can be achieved compatible with the area and not significantly affecting visual and 
residential amenity

Highway Issues

This application considers a new residential access from the public highway based upon 
the existing agricultural access. The access is designed with visibility splays within the 
applicant’s control and the highway verge that can be conditioned for retention.

The applicant has provided a Technical Note document regarding access and traffic 
issues along with a speed survey. The report summarises that the average speed 
passing the frontage of the site is 28.9 mph. The report shows that traffic flows on 
Camerton Road are low, with average peak hour flows ranging from 23 to 30 vehicles, 
with a total average recorded daily flow of 449 vehicles during a weekday and 431 during 
a 7 day week.

The four dwellings will require 8-12 parking spaces depending on house types with 
associated traffic movements.

With regard to the traffic flows and speeds passing the site, the access to the site has 
been moved marginally to the west in order to achieve the necessary visibility splays of 
53 metres in both directions.

The Highway Authority does not object subject to standard planning highway conditions. 

Drainage

A drainage statement and strategy has been provided. The geology does not allow for 
adequate soakaway and therefore the next sustainable option for surface water drainage 
is to a watercourse.

Page 60



Surface water drainage is planned from the site across the applicant’s land with an outfall 
direct to the River Derwent. The solution does not rely on Gale Brook as is the case with 
the larger site for 100 dwellings.

The drainage statement demonstrates that run-off from the proposed development can 
be managed in such a way to ensure that it does not pose a risk to the site or its 
occupants and does not increase flood risk downstream or to the wider catchment. Post-
development discharge rates are to be restricted and attenuated using flow control 
devices so as not to exceed predevelopment run-off rates. 

Foul drainage is planned to the main sewer east of the site with a connection in 
Camerton Road. This cannot be achieved by gravity therefore a pumping station is 
planned on the land described adjacent to the site. The less sustainable alternative of 
non-mains drainage is also available.

Contaminated Land

The land is within the former Coal Authority consultation zone. As Phase 1 Desk Top 
Study has been provided that identified the need for a further Phase 2 Investigation. 
Standard conditions are recommended by Allerdale Environmental Protection.

Ecology

A Phase 1 report has been provided that concludes the following…. 

The site has been found to be of negligible value for wildlife supporting a very limited
number of species with poor habitats. It is not considered suitable for protected or 
notable fauna and there are no significant constraints to the site’s development. Impacts 
on nearby wildlife sites have been screened out by Natural England on the
proviso that appropriate measures are put in place to prevent construction and
operational run-off into the local catchment. This can be agreed through a suitable 
planning condition. It is felt that this report presents sufficient evidence of the wildlife 
value of the site and no additional surveys are considered necessary to support the 
planning application.

Section 106 Agreement

As a standalone site for just four dwellings there is no requirement for any contributions 
to affordable housing, education or highway improvements.

Representations

The Parish Council has objected and quoted as follows…

Objections based on concern with ingress & egress to a small country road, 
encompassing poor sight lines, with no pavements & no room to introduce them, together 
with unsuitable proposals for pedestrian access through fields or across a cycletrack to a 
fence. It is suggested that the walk to school times have been miscalculated.

Page 61



68 letters of objection have been received. The overwhelming reasons for 
objection/comment are regarding access, highway/pedestrian safety and traffic 
congestion in the locality. Additionally, the threat of local and downstream flooding has 
raised significant concern along with issues of visual and landscape impact, house type 
design and general impact on residential amenity. The objections also refer to cumulative 
impacts with the other two residential sites nearby under consideration.

The matters above have been given full consideration. With confirmation from statutory 
consultees where necessary, Planning Officers consider the objections and comments 
are not reasons for amendment or refusal subject to appropriate conditions.

Conclusion

The application is considered on its own merits and the proposals can be supported for 
the reasons above with appropriate conditions. As an addition to the larger site for 100 
dwellings and added to the site of five dwellings, it is Officers’ opinion that there are no 
significant cumulative impacts should multiple developments be implemented. 

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act. There are matters 
regarding the New Homes Bonus Scheme and additional Council Tax Revenue. This has 
carried no weight in the determination.

Page 62



Annex 1

Conditions

1. Before any works commence details of the layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping (hereinafter called 'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The application has been submitted as an outline application, in 
accordance with the provisions of the details of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans:                                                                                                 
17004-PL300 - Site Location Plan
17004-PL302 Rev A Proposed Masterplan Plot 3
VC0004 03-01 Rev D - Access Drawing 
1257903 April 2017 Drainage Statement
1257903 April 2017 Geoenvironmental & Geotechnical Desktop Study
R-2803-03.1 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The submission of all reserved matters applications shall be made no later 
than the expiration of 3 years beginning with the date of this permission and 
the development shall begin no later  than whichever is the later of the 
following dates:
(a) The expiration of 3 years from the date of the grant of this permission, 
or 
(b) The expiration of 2 years from the final approval of the reserved 
matters or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the 
last such matter to be approved.
Reason: In order to comply with Sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

4. Any application for reserved matters of layout shall include plans showing the 
following:
(a) Cross sections through the site;
(b) Details of existing and proposed ground levels;
(c) Proposed finished floor levels of buildings;
(d) Levels of any paths, drives, garages and parking areas;
and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the details so 
approved.
Reason: To ensure that the works are carried out to a suitable level in relation to the 
adjoining properties and highways and in the interests of visual amenity.

5. The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear
visibility of 53 metres in both directions measured 2.4 metres down the
centre of the access road have been provided at the junction of the access
road with the County highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town 

Page 63



and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 
(or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted 
development, no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, 
parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be 
permitted to grown within the
visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility splays shall 
be constructed before general development of the site commences so that
construction traffic is safeguarded.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

6. Details showing the provision of a vehicle turning space within the site,
which allows vehicles visiting the site to enter and leave the highway in a
forward gear, restricting reversing movements to 12 metres, shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The development shall 
not be brought into use until any such details have been approved and the 
turning space constructed. The turning space shall not thereafter be used for 
any other purpose.
Reason: To ensure that provision is made for vehicle turning within the site and in
the interests of highway safety.

7. The gradient of the access drive shall be no steeper than 1 in 10 for a distance 
not less than 5 metres as measured from the carriageway edge of the adjacent 
highway.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

8. No dwellings shall be occupied until the shared private access to serve such
dwellings has been constructed in all respects to base course level and street 
lighting where it is to form part of the estate road has been provided and 
brought into full operational use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

9. Details of proposed crossings of the highway verge and/or footway shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The development shall 
not be commenced until the details have been approved and the crossings 
have been constructed.
Reason: To ensure a suitable standard of crossing for pedestrian safety.

10. Development shall not be begun until a Construction Method Statement
including details of all on-site construction works, post-construction
reinstatement, drainage, mitigation, and other restoration, together with
details of their timetabling has been submitted to and approved by the local
planning authority and shall include measures to secure:
a) formation of the construction compound and access tracks and any areas 
of hardstanding;
b) cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;
c) the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or
deposit of any materials on the highway;
d) post-construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas
The Construction Method Statement shall be carried out as approved.
Reason : In the interests of highway safety

Page 64



11. Development shall not be begun until a Construction Traffic Management
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The CTMP shall include details of:
a) the construction of the site access and the creation, positioning and 
maintenance
of associated visibility splays;
b) access gates will be hung to open away from the public highway no less 
than 10 metres from the carriageway edge and shall incorporate appropriate 
visibility displays;
c) proposed accommodation works and where necessary a programme for 
their subsequent removal and the reinstatement of street furniture and verges, 
where required, along the route;
d) the pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for
accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a 
Highway Authority representative;
e) details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;
f)  retained areas for vehicle parking, maneuvering, loading and unloading for 
their specific purpose during the development;
g) construction vehicle routing;
h the management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and 
other public rights of way/footway;
i) the scheduling and timing of movements, temporary warning signs and
banksman
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
Construction Traffic Management Plan.
Reason : In the interests of highway safety.

12. The access and parking/turning requirements, shall be implemented before  
building work commences on site so that constructional traffic
can park and turn clear of the highway.
Reason: The carrying out of this development without the provision of these
facilities during the construction work is likely to lead to inconvenience and danger
to road users.

13.  No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the vehicular access, 
parking and turning requirements have been constructed and have been 
brought into use. The vehicular access, parking and turning provisions shall 
be retained and capable of use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed 
or altered without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access, parking and turning provision 
when the development is brought into use. 

14. No development shall commence until full details of the foul drainage and 
surface water system demonstrating that no flooding will occur on any part of 
the site for a 1 in 30 year event unless designed to do so, flooding will not 
occur to any building in a 1 in 100 year event plus 40 % to account for climate 
change, and where reasonably possible flows resulting from rainfall in excess 
of a 1 in 100 year 6 hour rainfall event are managed in conveyance routes 
(plans of flow routes etc) have been agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority. The proposed scheme should meet the requirements of Sustainable 

Page 65



drainage systems: non-statutory technical standards (March 2015).
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the occupation of any dwelling.

       Reason: To achieve a satisfactory standard of foul water drainage and to manage 
flood risk within the development that results from surface water to minimise the risk 
to people and property

15. No development shall be constructed above plinth level until details of future 
maintenance and operation of the surface water system are agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be 
maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the surface water system continues to function as designed.

16. No development shall commence until full details of the proposed foul 
drainage pumping station, including noise data and its future management 
and maintenance are provided to the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 
approved details.
Reason: To secure a satisfactory means of foul water discharge and in the interests 
of residential amenity.

17. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
combined gross floor space of the housing development hereby approved 
shall not exceed 1000sqm.
Reason: Housing development exceeding 1000sqm would trigger the requirement 
for an affordable housing contribution in accordance with policy S8 of the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and no provision has been made as part of this proposal.

18. A phasing plan shall be provided with the first reserved matters application for 
approval by the Local Planning Authority, which demonstrates how the 
1000sqm gross floor space specified by condition 17 will be distributed 
between all the dwellinghouses hereby approved. Any subsequent reserved 
matters application would need to demonstrate conformity with the phasing 
plan as approved. 
Reason: To ensure that the 1000sqm gross floor space specified by condition 17 is 
distributed appropriately across the site, so as to achieve a satisfactory form of 
development.

19. No development approved by this permission shall commence until all 
necessary site investigation works within the site boundary have been carried 
out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works 
for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the commencement.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

Page 66



20. Where land affected by contamination is found which poses unacceptable 
risks to human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no 
development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme must include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the 
preferred option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and remediation 
criteria, and a description and programme of the works to be undertaken 
including the verification plan.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

21. Should a remediation scheme be required, the approved strategy shall be 
implemented and a verification report submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. 
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

22. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the 
site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All work shall be undertaken in 
accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason:  To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

23. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The statement shall include the following: 
a) Traffic Management Plan to include all traffic associated with the 
development, including site and staff traffic; 
b) Procedure to monitor and mitigate noise and vibration from the 
construction and demolition and to monitor any properties at risk of damage 
from vibration, as well as taking into account noise from vehicles, deliveries. 
All measurements should make reference to BS7445. 
c) Mitigation measures to reduce adverse impacts on residential properties 
from construction compounds including visual impact, noise, and light 
pollution. 
d) Mitigation measures to ensure that no harm is caused to protected species 

Page 67



during construction. 
e) A written procedure for dealing with complaints regarding the construction 
or demolition; 
f) Measures to control the emissions of dust and dirt during construction and 
demolition; 
g) Programme of work for Demolition and Construction phase; 
h) Hours of working and deliveries; 
i) Details of lighting to be used on site.

       j) appropriate pollution prevention guideline measures to include biosecurity, 
materials and machinery storage, and mitigation for the control and 
management of noise, dust, surface water run-off and waste to protect any 
watercourse or surface water drains from sediment, and pollution from 
cement or fuel.
The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
development.
Reason : In the interests of residential amenity and of safeguarding ecological 
interests and biodiversity

24. The development hereby approved shall be undertaken only in full accordance 
with the recommendations and mitigation within the ecological survey R-2803-
03.1 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
Reason : In order to safeguard local wildlife interests and biodiversity.

Proactive Statement

Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying planning policies, constraints, stakeholder representations and 
matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and where appropriate 
negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal to 
address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

Notes to Applicant: The applicant/developer is reminded of the need for the necessary 
highway licences/permits and an Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency 
regarding surface water drainage.

Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Allerdale Borough Council 
Planning Application 2/2017/0391

Proposed 
Development:

Development of a single storey place of worship with car parking 
and new site access

Location: Land adjacent to
Applethwaite
Station Hill
Wigton

Applicant: Mr Owen Thoburn

Recommendation: APPROVE

Summary/Key Issues

Issue Conclusion

Principle of 
development

The site lies within the settlement limit of Wigton in a sustainable 
location. Policy S26 supports community facilities.

Siting, Design and 
Materials

The siting, design and materials of the building are considered 
acceptable.

Residential amenity The parking has been relocated to the south of the proposed 
building away from the nearby residential dwellings. Officers are 
satisfied that appropriate mitigation measures can be introduced to 
reduce noise levels in order to ensure that nearby residents are 
not disturbed. 

Access and parking A new access is proposed to serve the development. The 
applicant has submitted adequate information to demonstrate that 
the required visibility splays can be achieved.  Highway officers 
have raised no objections to the scheme on highway safety. A 
footway is proposed to the front of the site to connect the 
development to the existing footpath to the northwest.  

Proposal

The applicant seeks consent for the erection of a single storey place of worship (Use 
Class D1) with associated car parking and creation of a new access to serve the 
development. 

Site

The application site forms an enclosed field lying within the settlement boundary of 
Wigton. The land is enclosed with housing to the north and west, with the highway to the 
east and the A596 to the south. The land is gradually sloping from north to south with an 

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



existing agricultural field access in close proximity to Applethwaite. 

The east and south boundaries are protected by wide verges, thick hedges including 
semi-mature trees and other planting, which screen the site from the two roads on the 
site boundaries. 

Relevant Policies

National Planning Policy Framework
Building a strong, competitive economy
Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Requiring good design

Allerdale Local Plan (part 1), Adopted July 2014
Policy DM14 - Standards of Good Design
Policy DM17 - Trees, hedgerows and woodland
Policy S1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy S2 - Sustainable development principles
Policy S3 - Spatial Strategy and Growth
Policy S4 - Design principles
Policy S5 - Development Principles
Policy S6d - Wigton 
Policy S22 - Transport principles
Policy S26 - Community and rural services
Policy S29 - Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Policy S30 - Reuse of Land
Policy S32 - Safeguarding amenity
Policy S33 – Landscape
Policy S35 - Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity
 

Representations

Wigton Town Council – Object for the following reasons:

- The proposed new access would be on a bend and close to the junction of the 
A596 and the junction opposite the site. 

- There are already existing parking problems on the opposite side to this 
development and too close to residential properties. 

- New development just been passed further along this road will result in increased 
traffic. 

- Having an entrance where proposed in our opinion will be dangerous

Environmental Health – In principle assessments to conclude that the operation of the 
place of worship can be undertaken without causing noise disturbance to nearby 
residential properties. However this is based on a desk top study approach to the noise 
assessment as no noise monitoring has been undertaken on site. It is considered that 

Page 72



mitigation measures could be introduced to reduce noise levels in order to ensure that 
nearby residents are not disturbed. A condition should be attached requiring a noise 
assessment to be carried out and details of the sound installation scheme to be provided.

There are a number of sites surrounding the proposed site that have been identified as 
potentially contaminated due to their previous uses. It is recommended that conditions 
are attached in relation to contamination.

The car parking area is now proposed to be located away from housing therefore there 
should be no issues with external lighting affecting the nearby residential properties. No 
further information is required in relation to lighting.

Cumbria Highways – After reviewing amended drawing for the proposal and results of 
the speed survey I can confirm that the Highway Authority has no objection to the 
proposal.

LLFA – The LLFA surface water map show flooding to the area and indicate up to 3 per 
cent (1 in 30) change of occurring each year and the Environment Agency (EA) surface 
water maps indicate that the site is in Flood Zone 1.

Fire Officer – No reply to date.

Adjoining owners have been notified. 10 letters of objection have been received from 
differing objectors that relate too:

- The justification of the Highways Department for the extension of the double 
yellow lines on Station Hill last September was “the frequent conflicts that occur at 
the bend”. Those yellow lines were imposed and vehicles now approach the bend 
faster than they used to.

- The proposed access to the site will be right on the bend and is dangerous to both 
pedestrians and motorists.

- When the approved housing scheme further along Station Hill is built it will add to 
the congestion of this road. 

- The traffic survey is limited in that it does not account for volumes of traffic coming 
from the bypass (A596) and turning right into the cul-de-sac (and vice versa). This 
traffic avoids the survey equipment.

- The proposed removal of hedgerows/trees on the northeast part of the site will 
make Station Hill less pleasant and attractive. 

- The proposed development clearly clashes with amenity and does not address the 
inherent danger of constructing a new site access on a fast bend.

- Danger of pedestrians crossing the B5303 to the meeting hall.
- Potential noise/light pollution form the facility.
- The field is the hunting ground for a protected bird and building on it would deprive 

the bird of its habitat.
- Planning permission on this site was refused over 20 years ago when there was 

much less traffic and no hazard with parked cars.
- The main sewage from our properties goes across this land joining up with the 

sewage pipe from Fell View. How much more can these sewer take. The car park 
seems as if it will be built on top of the sewers. Who is liable to cover the cost of 
any repairs?

Page 73



Main Issues:

Principle of development

The local congregation was first established in the 1970’s and initially met in rented 
accommodation in Wigton. It moved to the current site on Reeds Lane when it purchased 
the property in December 1981.

After more than 35 years at this location, the size and layout of the existing building has 
become inadequate for the number and need of those regularly in attendance and land 
surrounding the existing premises does not allow for extensions and alterations to 
overcome the difficulties for disabled access to the premises. It has therefore been 
determined that a new purpose built facility will be built and the proposed site is the 
preferred option, lying within Wigton’s built settlement limit. The facility would provide an 
auditorium, classroom and toilets. It will be open to all members of the public and 
meetings for the purpose of worship and religious education will be held regularly, along 
with less frequent use for weddings, funeral services, meetings of trustees and so on.

The site is considered to be in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) which emphasises under paragraph 14 that there is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  In particular this development is supported by Chapter 8, 
Promoting healthy communities.

The principle of supporting the community premises in this location would be supported 
under the Allerdale Local Plan and in particular policy S26 supports the improvement of 
community facilities. 

Siting, Design and Materials

The proposed single storey building has a floorspace of 207 square metres and is 
located to the south of the proposed access with parking to the southeast of the building. 
The building will have an eaves of approx. 2.7m and a ridge level of approx. 5.6m. The 
sloping nature of the site and the chosen siting for the building will prevent the scale of 
the building dominating the surrounding residential properties, with the existing soft 
planting around the site and proposed planting to the north of the building providing 
screening.

The building will be finished in render walls with elements of fibre cement weatherboard 
(dark grey), under interlocking concrete slate roof (grey). The entrance lobby will be 
colour coat steel / fully glazed entrance enclosure with colour coat steel double glazed 
windows and doors (dark grey). 

The siting of the building is considered acceptable achieving a separation distance from 
the residential dwellings with the appearance of the building considered appropriate for 
its location. 

Residential Amenity

Page 74



The site is bounded to the north and west by residential dwellings, with the A596 to the 
south.  Due to the location of the site close to sensitive uses such as residential 
properties any impact from noise from the premises and loss of privacy needs to be fully 
considered. 

The building is to be located on the lower level of the site separated from the existing 
dwellings to the north by approx. 22m to the domestic boundary. Sections have been 
submitted with the application that demonstrates the proposed building is at a 
significantly lower level than the existing dwellings and will not appear overbearing. 
Additional landscaping between the buildings and the dwellings are shown on the 
submitted plans and a full landscaping scheme can be secured via condition. 

Non-intrusive external security lighting is to be provided to the car park and around the 
building. Given that the car park has been relocated to the south of the building away 
from housing there should be no issues with external lighting affecting the nearby 
residential properties and no further information is required in relation to lighting. 

Upon request from Environmental Health officer’s information was provided on the likely 
noise levels from the use of the facility and noise and acoustics reports carried out for 
similar sites/uses were provided and they confirmed the building will be in operation 
between 8am and 10pm Monday to Saturday and 9.30am to 6pm on Sundays. 

Environmental Health officers have considered the submitted information and detail that 
in principle the assessments do conclude that the operation of the place of worship can 
be undertaken without causing noise disturbance to nearby residential properties. 
However this is based on a desk top study approach to the noise assessment as no 
noise monitoring has been undertaken on site. In addition the assessment refers to noise 
levels at the façade of properties as opposed to the boundary of properties, the boundary 
noise level needs to take account of garden boundaries to ensure that residents can 
enjoy the garden areas of their properties without disturbance. The noise assessment 
makes no reference to plant noise there is no inclusion of acoustic corrections for tonal, 
intermittent of impulse noise. Although the noise from the site has not been fully 
assessed Environmental Health Officers are satisfied that an appropriate scheme to 
prevent disturbance to existing residents can be achieved. It is recommended that a 
condition be attached requiring full details of the noise/ventilation/odour/lighting/noise 
mitigation measures to be installed at the property. 

Officers consider subject to appropriately worded conditions the amenity of existing 
nearby dwellings can be adequately safeguarded in line with Policy S4 and S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 

Access and parking

The existing agricultural access is inadequate to serve the proposed development. The 
applicant is proposing a new 6m wide access to the southeast of the existing agricultural 
access. The submitted layout plan details that the required visibility splays can be 
achieved from the proposed access without entering on to third party land with the 
exception of the highway verge. A 1.5m width access is proposed to the front of the site 
to connect with the existing footpath. 

Page 75



Cumbria highway officers initially raised concerns in regards to visibility splays and 
security of the road users. An amended drawing was submitted and details of the speed 
survey carried out. In assessing this additional information Cumbria Highways raise no 
objection to the proposal on highway grounds. 

The agent has detailed that the majority of the congregation is made up of families who 
arrive together in private cars. Other congregation members are collected on-route as 
part of an established car-sharing arrangement. 

There is access to public transport routes providing sustainable travel to and from the 
site, from both a bus stop directly opposite the proposed entrance and a railway station 
within 450m. 

The parking area includes 26 vehicles spaces and 4 disabled bays. The building has 
been designed to ensure that current disabled regulations are incorporated into the 
design.

Officers consider the proposed access to be acceptable in terms of highway safety with 
adequate parking provided for the scheme.  

Other Issues:

Drainage

The applicant is proposing surface water will be directed into a SUDS / soakaway on the 
site, and the design of the landscaping and surfaces will make use of permeable and 
semi-permeable finishes, where possible, to allow water to drain to ground, limiting the 
amount of water discharged into the SUDs. The size of the soakaway will be determined 
following site investigation works with percolation tests and can be controlled via 
condition. 

The foul drainage requirements will be small, given the non-residential nature of the 
building, and would be diverted into the existing foul sewer that passes through the 
development site of the southern boundary. 

Trees and Hedgerows

The site consists of one field with ungrazed grassland, bordered by mixed species 
hedgerows with trees, with the development seeing a number of trees/hedgerows 
removed to the east boundary to accommodate the access. A trees and hedge survey 
has been submitted with the application.

The report details that the species planted are typical of highway and road side planting. 
The proposed new entrance and visibility splays to the site will remove a section of 
planting onto Station Hill. The report highlights that the works will invariably have an 
effect on this feature, but with sensitive planning, implementation and appropriate habitat 
reinstatement/creation, environmental damage can be minimised.

The applicant has shown has agreement to carry out replanting as part of the proposal 
and a full landscaping scheme can be secured by condition that will show their location 

Page 76



and species including existing trees to be retained.  

Local Financial Considerations

Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal would 
benefit from future Business Rates Revenue.
 
Conclusion

The principle of erecting a community facility within the settlement limit of Wigton is in line 
with local and national policy. The agent has submitted adequate information with the 
application to demonstrate the proposal is acceptable in both terms of highway safety 
and amenity issues subject to conditions.  

Page 77



Annex 1

Conditions/Reasons

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:
LOC - Location Plan (need amended site location that includes access and 
visibility in red line to match block plan)
A-100 Rev A - Site Plan (amendment received 19 September 2017)
A-101 Rev A - Floor Plan (amendment received 19 September 2017)
A-102 Rev A - Elevations (amendment received 19 September 2017)
A-103 Rev A - Elevations (amendment received 19 September 2017)
A-105 Rev A - Site Sections (amendment received 19 September 2017)
A-109 Block Plan received (amendment received 19 September 2017)
Tree and Hedge Assessment
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations 
to the scheme are properly considered.

3. The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear 
visibility of 43 metres measured down the centre of the access road and the 
nearside channel line of the major road have been provided at the junction of 
the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the provisions of 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 
(or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted 
development, no structure or object of any kind shall be erected or placed and 
no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted to grow 
within the visibility splays which exceed 1 metre in height and obstruct the 
visibility splays. The visibility splays shall be constructed before general 
development of the site commences so that construction traffic is 
safeguarded.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of access for the development during the 
construction and operational use of the site, in compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2 and S22 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 
1), Adopted July 2014.

4. Prior to the construction of the building above plinth level a 1.5m wide footway 
along the highway frontage as shown on drawing number A-109 (to an 
acceptable standard in accordance with the Cumbria Design Guide) shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
scheme shall be fully implemented prior to the use of the building hereby 
approved commencing.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory facilities for pedestrians in the interests of highway 
safety.

Page 78



5. The use shall not be commenced until the access and parking requirements 
have been constructed in accordance with the approved plan. Any such 
access and or parking provision shall be retained and be capable of use when 
the development is completed and shall not be removed or altered without the 
prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that proper access and parking provision is made and retained 
for use in relation to the development.

6. Prior to the commencement of works details of the surface water drainage 
works, including any attenuation measures to demonstrate that no greater run 
off rate than the existing greenfield site  shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully 
implemented prior to the occupation of any of the dwellinghouses hereby 
approved. 

       Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and minimise the 
risk of flooding from the development in comparison to an assessment of its existing 
undeveloped state, in compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Policies S29 and S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014. 
 

7. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be built above ground floor 
level until there has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority a scheme of hard and soft landscaping which shall include 
indications of all existing trees and shrubs on the site, and details of any to be 
retained, together with measures for the protection in the course of 
development. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised within the scheme 
shall be carried out in the first planting season following completion of the 
development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with other 
similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to enhance the appearance of the development and minimise the 
impact of the development in the locality.

8. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until full 
details of the noise/ventilation/odour/lighting/noise mitigation measures to be 
installed at the property (including noise attenuation measures and predicted 
noise levels at the discharge point) have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These measures shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved details and shall be fully operational before the 
use commences.  The measures shall be retained as approved and 
maintained operational for the lifetime of the development.
Reason:  To safeguard an acceptable standard of amenity for the occupiers of the 
dwellinghouses hereby approved in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S32 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

9.    No development approved by this permission shall commence until a desktop 
study has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Should the preliminary risk assessment identify any potential contamination 
which may affect human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, 

Page 79



all necessary site investigation works within the site boundary must be carried 
out to establish the degree and nature of the contamination and its potential to 
pollute the environment or cause harm to human health. The scope of works 
for the site investigations should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to their commencement.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

10. Should land affected by contamination be identified under the desktop study 
condition 9 following site investigations which poses unacceptable risks to 
human health, controlled waters or the wider environment, no development 
shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must 
include an appraisal of remediation options, identification of the preferred 
option(s), the proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, and a 
description and programme of the works to be undertaken including the 
verification plan.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

11. Should a remediation scheme be required under condition 10, the approved 
strategy shall be implemented and a verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the development 
(or relevant phase of development) being brought into use.
Reason: To minimise any risk during or post construction works arising from any 
possible contamination from the development to the local environment in compliance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014.

12. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on the part of the 
site affected must be halted and a risk assessment carried out and submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Where 
unacceptable risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
shall be implemented prior to the development (or relevant phase of 
development) being brought into use. All works shall be undertaken in 
accordance with current UK guidance, particularly CLR11.
Reason: To minimise any risk arising from any possible contamination from the 
development to the local environment in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S30 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014.

Page 80



Proactive Statement

Application Approved Following Revisions

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying planning policies, constraints, stakeholder representations and 
matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and where appropriate 
negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments and solutions to the proposal to 
address those concerns.  As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant 
planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

Notes to Applicant: You must not commence works, or allow any person to perform 
works, on any part of the highway until in receipt of an appropriate permit allowing such 
works.

Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting Tuesday 14 November 2017 of Development Panel
	5 2/2017/0277 Princess Hall, Low Seaton-Hybrid planning application comprising - Phase 1: Full planning permission for the partial demolition of the Royal British Legion building and relocation of the car park, including implementation of access associated with the car park and residential development and Phase 2: Outline permission for residential development of up to 100 dwellings and associated works considering details of access
	6 2/2017/0278 North of Camerton Road, Seaton- Proposed outline application for the erection of 5 dwellings considering reserved matter of access only
	7 2/2017/0279 Hillside, Camerton Road, Seaton- Outline application for the erection of 4 dwellings considering reserved matter of access only
	8 2/2017/0391 Land adjacent to Applethwaite, Station Hill, Wigton- Development of a single storey place of worship with car parking and new site access

